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Preface

Even after | had written most of these memoirs, | was still unsure why | was en-
gaged in this undertaking. What was prompting me to think back? Whom was |
addressing?

I am somewhat reserved, and discuss my life rarely and sparingly. During the
most exciting days of Hungary’s transition from single-party state to democracy, a
journalist pressed me to give, at last, a long biographical interview. “It will not in-
terest anybody later,” he argued. That was fifteen years ago, and | hope now | am
not too late.

For many years my wife urged me to write my life story, but | kept putting it off. |
finally sat down to the task in mid-2003, and these memoirs occupied my time and
energy for the next two years to the detriment of some other projects.

My wife’s insistence is motive enough. If I were asked to name the single reader
for whom this book has been written, whose satisfaction and approval it is designed
to win, that person has to be Zsuzsa.

| hope my autobiography will also interest many other people: my children and
grandchildren and other family members, my friends, my colleagues past and pres-
ent, my students, and readers of my books and articles. This is no small circle. Those
who know me personally or through my previous written works already will have
some impression of me. | would like them to meld that picture with the self-image |
present in this account of my life. Several hundred reviews of my books can now be
compared with my self-assessment. In these memaoirs, | discuss how | saw my work
at the time it was written and how | see it now. | have never reacted publicly to
reviews. Only on rare occasions have | engaged in a dispute when | have encoun-
tered someone who disagreed with me. Here in my recollections | want to provide
a comprehensive and chronological “review” of my work.

Though my memoirs are roughly chronological, this is not a diary. Each chapter
is arranged around a subject, whether a single event, one of my works, or a place
where | once lived. Therefore each chapter title includes the time period covered.
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From chapter to chapter, these periods merge into each other and may overlap, if
the topic requires it.

Readers may include some people who have not read any of my earlier writings
but are simply interested in the era in which 1 lived. This book does not take on
any of the tasks of a historian: it does not seek to give an objective, comprehensive
description and an interpretation of major events. There is an extensive literature
available for those wanting to study the socialist and post-socialist period in Hun-
gary or in other formerly communist countries. | was just one participant in those
eras, and not a major one. All | say about each is what impinged on my own life—
the social and historical context in which the events of my life unfolded.

For those, however, who are interested in Eastern Europe, my memoirs may pro-
vide details to complement other sources on Eastern Europe, on the rise and fall of
the communist system, and on the dilemmas facing the Eastern European intelligent-
sia. The various reports, diaries, and autobiographies of people who lived through
the period are indispensable source materials for future scholars. Through my mem-
oirs I try to contribute to that material, acting as a witness to what occurred. In fact,
| also intended my earlier, academic writings as testimony to their historical periods,
and | tried to make them as objective as possible. These memoirs are a subjective
augmentation of my scholarly work. | have now tried to include what stayed out of
Economics of Shortage or The Socialist System because the material was too per-
sonal in nature or because something else prevented me from stating my opinion.
This book’s genre allows me to present my personal credo on several ethical, politi-
cal, and scientific questions. For me, it was not possible to squeeze subjective position
statements and personal declarations into scholarly works on well-circumscribed
topics.

I thought a great deal about what this book’s title should be. I was initially
inclined to call it Understanding___ It was myself, first of all, that 1 wanted to un-
derstand. | have sought to explain what | thought when and why, what influenced
my thinking and actions, and then how my thinking changed. | also would like to
better understand those with whom | agreed and those with whom | disagreed,
those who stood by me and those who turned away.

“Understanding” can imply moral approval or at least acquiescence. That is not
the kind of comprehension | have in mind. By no means am | looking to exonerate
myself or to judge others here, any more than | was in my earlier academic works. |
want to understand what I have experienced. Sometimes it is quite hard to discover
the motives behind events, the flaws in an argument, the deep forces that motivate
people, and the declared or concealed reasons for conflicts. It was no easy feat to
examine my own past, and obviously it is harder still to analyze the pasts of others.

In the end, | chose a different title: By Force of Thought. | felt that these words
most effectively summarized one of the main themes of these memaoirs. | have striven
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neither for power nor riches but rather for a life of ideas. When from time to time |
exercised some influence on the course of events, it was not because | dictated to
others from a higher position or bought their cooperation at a high price. If | have
had any influence on anyone or anything, | have had it through my thoughts, spo-
ken or written.

One reader of the manuscript expressed his reservations: “It is naive to believe in
the influence of argument, conviction, or thought. The real driving force behind his-
torical events is interest.” As a professional observer and analyst of social changes,
I have no illusions, and 1 try to take into account the various causes of observed
effects and handle them according to their weight. However, the dominant posses-
sors of power and wealth are people of action, individuals who are able to choose
between alternatives. There are all sorts of factors influencing them, and values,
principles, and ideas are surely not among the least significant. Moreover, the course
of events is certainly influenced as well by the thoughts and beliefs of the millions or
hundreds of millions of those who are less powerful and rich. My whole life’s work
would lose its meaning if | were not convinced that thought has force.

Of course, this force of thought has its limits. Indeed this is one of the main
themes of these memoirs: when and why my own thinking faltered and then was
reconsidered, how others’ ideas affected me, and how my line of thinking, analyses,
and recommendations clashed with those of others. Thought is subject to a continu-
ous test of strength. Every chapter recounts such tests, whether these led to success
or to failure.

In the subtitle | call these memoirs “irregular,” because they differ from most
memoirs in two respects. While recounting the events of my life, | pause from time
to time and express my thoughts on specific episodes. The emphasis is not on telling
the story but on analyzing the problem and its circumstances. Such commentaries,
which relate to some aspect of sociology, political philosophy, ethics, the process of
research and creation, the sociology of science, or various other subjects, may be
considered miniature independent essays. This book is thus a combination of mem-
oirs interspersed with a series of essays that are more detached in nature. Hence
these are “irregular memoirs.”

Second, most memoirs treat the author’s private life. Although I have written an
account that is personal and subjective, essentially it is an intellectual autobiogra-
phy. This term can be broadly interpreted to encompass the political and public
aspects of my life, and also my friendships and other personal relations associated
with my professional activities and public service.

I mention family members and family events many times throughout the book,
but that private domain, with its countless pleasures and problems, is given much
less space and emphasis in these memoirs than it had in my real life. The photo-
graphs may perhaps show something of this personal sphere that is not expressed
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in words. The book is thus an irregular autobiography also in the sense that | hardly
mention what are considered strictly personal matters.

Let me say a few words about the genre and style of the book. | have spent the
past fifty years writing analyses, trying to present what | have understood in clear,
comprehensible arguments. | am not going to suddenly become a man of letters.
Do not expect me to produce fine descriptions of scenes, recall conversations, pen
portraits of friends, or offer graphic, impressionistic accounts of tense moments.
Literary writers, whether by design or accident, leave problems open and thoughts
unresolved. A scientific researcher cannot do that. | remain a scholar even when
writing my memoirs. | try to avoid ambiguity in style, structure, and means of
expression.

When | was writing my earlier books, | generally had before me a well-defined
picture of those whom | was addressing, and that audience largely determined
what | had to explain and what | could assume readers already knew. This time
the situation is different. | trust that readers of this book will be economists and
other professionals, members of older and younger generations, Hungarians and
foreigners, people living in the East and in the West. | have done my best to make
it easy for all to follow what | mean to say. | faced a serious dilemma at several
places in the book. Should my aim be maximum precision, which would call for
detailed definitions and qualifications, and a full delineation of the initial assump-
tions behind the theory? There was a danger that this approach would make life
too hard for readers who are not economists. So should | then choose a simpler
form of expression, with a concomitant danger of oversimplification? Since | am
not writing an academic treatise, | preferred to risk the latter. For those who have
not read any of my academic work, this book gives a sense of what | have to say in
my books and articles. For those who have, perhaps it may serve to remind them of
those writings. Let me apologize in advance to those who feel | have given super-
fluous detail in certain places.

It goes without saying that my own recollections were the most important source
for this memoir. But I did not see the writing process as a test of memory: | not only
relied on my own thoughts and feelings but checked the factual references as care-
fully as possible in other published works.

I had many sources at my disposal. As | already mentioned, | went back to the
works of mine | consider the most important.* Once these appeared in print, | nor-
mally did not look at them again. Now, however, | have reread them in succession,
together with many contemporary reviews and later commentaries on these primary
works.

* The selection can be readily grasped from the table of contents. When a chapter discusses one
or more of my publications in some detail, the title or titles appear as a subtitle of the chapter.
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I have never kept a diary, but since | have been primarily a researcher, | have
saved many notes and built up an archive of all sorts of documents. These are main-
tained in a form that is easy to access, catalogued in hundreds of files. | have kept
most of the letters sent to me, as well as copies of my own letters. In writing this
book I immersed myself in this wealth of documentation.

The material in my own collection was supplemented by research in various pub-
lic archives, where my colleagues and | found much interesting information. Study-
ing the documents of Hungary’s former secret service proved to be very exciting.
Recent Hungarian laws make it possible for citizens to access the material relating
to them. It was a depressing and at times appalling experience to read informers’
reports, records of police investigations made in preparation for political trials, and
the notes of state security and intelligence officers. | describe in this volume many of
the political police and secret service documents pertaining to me.

While | feel it is important to assure the reader in advance that the book is based
not only on its writer’s memory but on the study of other documents too, | do not
want to discourage a wider audience. Its emphasis is not on giving a dry account of
archival research but on the personal treatment of memories. What follows is an ac-
count of a long and adventurous intellectual journey, with light and dark episodes,
and animating and embittering experiences. | hope that by the end of the book,
readers will have gained a better understanding of my life, my works, and the age
in which I have lived.

The Osiris Publishing House/Osiris Kiado published the Hungarian version of my
memoirs in April 2005. The present book is the translation of the Hungarian text
with some modifications.

| have corrected some minor errors and inaccuracies that had been recognized
only after the initial publishing of the book. | made an effort to clarify the phrasing
at some places where the reactions of readers suggested that the passage was ambig-
uous. | also attached a glossary and a chronology to the English edition in hope of
easing the way for non-Hungarian readers.

Between the completion of the Hungarian manuscript and the finalization of
the English version, more than a year passed. Of course, life did not stop; but with
few exceptions, the events of that period are not included in the text of the present
edition.

To make reading easier, it is worth giving a bit of practical advice to the reader.
At the end of the volume is a reference list limited to works mentioned in this book.
It cannot, then, be considered a comprehensive bibliography covering the subject
areas dealt with. For books that have been through several editions, | have listed,
to the best of my knowledge, the most recent edition, adding the year of the first edi-
tion in parentheses.
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The text of the book is supplemented by two types of notes: footnotes and end-
notes. | chose this somewhat unusual approach to make things easier for the reader.
A work neither of fiction nor of scholarship, my book belongs to an intermediate
genre that justifies this solution.

The footnotes contain information that I could, in fact, have inserted in the main
text, given the book’s genre and style. It appears in footnotes because each repre-
sents a minor digression from the line of thought of the main text. These digressions
offer illustrative examples, data, episodes, and sometimes anecdotes or jokes. | hope
those who decide to read the main text will also read the footnotes.

The endnotes contain what researchers call the critical apparatus. As | explained
above, this memoir is based on a broad range of material. If the source of certain
information was an archival document, the endnote gives the citation in customary
form. There are frequent references to published works as well. If they are simply
mentioned in the text, readers may find full bibliographical data in the reference
list. But if the reference in the text is less direct, or if a work is directly quoted, an
endnote is supplied.1

| expect that many readers do not wish to closely track the sources of the various
pieces of information. | have tried to assist them by placing those sources in end-
notes. The book’s points can be followed without ever consulting the endnotes.
However, those who wish to follow up on one problem or another (including those
doing research in the subject areas dealt with in the book) will find all the necessary
information in the endnotes.

Acknowledgments
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1
My Family and Youth—1928-1944

I am not Marcel Proust or Péter Esterhazy. So | will not even try to convey a sense
of my childhood or the ambience of my home. Like anyone else, I remember the
smell of cake and the voices of parents, but I lack the literary gift that would enable
me to put them before the readers of these memoirs.

So 1 will stay with the genre that I am used to and describe and analyze that world
instead. | am going to augment that task with another: to try now, at the age of 77,
to understand and analyze myself. How and why did | become what | became and
am? | will mainly speak of my childhood and youth and my family, therefore, inso-
far as they contribute to the dual task of understanding myself and that period.

My father

My father’s name was Dr. Pal Kornhauser. He was born in 1880. | bore the same
surname myself until | decided of my own accord in 1945 to take the name Kornai.

My paternal grandfather, Kéaroly Kornhauser, was a locksmith. The family lived
in the town of Trencsén (Trencin), in a region that was then part of Hungary and
belongs to Slovakia now. My father was proud that part of Trencsén Bridge had
been made in my grandfather’s workshop. When this came up in conversation later,
after I grew up, many people were surprised that a Jew in a nineteenth-century pro-
vincial town should have taken up the locksmith’s trade, instead of keeping a tavern
or a shop.

My father’s parents died while he was still a boy. His elder brother helped him
through his education, but basically it was by his own efforts that he completed his
secondary education at the Piarist Gymnasium, a famous school run by the Catholic
Church, before studying law at a university and becoming an attorney. | was cer-
tainly inspired by my father’s example when | too became a self-made man. Like
many people in the Uplands, my father was a native speaker of three languages:
Hungarian, German, and Slovak. He must have been talented and industrious
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indeed, because he had a splendid career as a young man. His knowledge of German
and his own interests oriented him toward the legal business of German companies
operating in Hungary. He was briefed by them with increasing frequency and later
officially became the legal adviser to the German Legation in Budapest. This was
really an honorary title, as he was not employed by the German state: it meant that
the legation recommended him to German companies involved in contracts or civil
litigation in Hungary. My father never took cases of any other kind—not divorce,
not criminal law, and not corporate law with Hungarian clients. He specialized in
the Hungarian business affairs of German companies.

The family apartment and my father’s office were on Akadémia utca in Budapest.
It was a prestigious address, a street with the headquarters of the Hungarian Acad-
emy of Science at one end and the Parliament at the other. The building now houses
the office of the Prime Minister’s staff. 1 was there not long ago. It was a curious
feeling to step into what had been my father’s study and find an economist friend
of mine working there. My father’s office was full of Hungarian and German legal
books. Neither he nor my mother collected books of any other kind. Literary works
were first brought to our apartment by my older sister and then by me. | cannot
report that | first learned to love and respect literature in my parents’ home, as
many children of the intelligentsia can.

I know from what my mother and sister told me that my father read a great deal
in his youth and often went to the opera, where he was particularly fond of Wagner.
By the time | was in my teens there were no traces left of this interest. All my father’s
attention was concentrated on his own profession.

Let us return to the German Legation. Many years after my father died, my
mother mentioned that when he was appointed legal adviser to the legation, he had
followed Dr. Miklés Kaldor. The name sounded familiar, and | discovered that
Lord Nicholas Kaldor, the great economist and adviser to the British chancellor of
the exchequer, was that Hungarian attorney’s son. Once | was talking to Kaldor in
his Cambridge home when the conversation came around to our fathers. The subject
reopened an old family resentment and jealousy in Kaldor, who was an elderly man
by then. Fifty years earlier, members of the Kaldor household must have cursed the
young Kornhauser more than once for having stepped into the senior Kaldor’s shoes.

My older brother Bandi and my sister Lilly had received a lot of attention from
my father when they were children. Lilly was moved by those memories, often
recalling the walks she had taken with my father, the games they had played, and
conversations they had had. By the time the second pair of children was born, my
older brother Tomi and myself, my father no longer had the energy or patience to
spend time with his children. | have no recollection of even one intimate hour with
him or a single meaningful conversation. | will be returning in these memoirs several
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times to the fact that I did not really have masters, an observation that I first make
here. 1, like all boys and young men, saw my father as a model in many respects,
and 1 still do. But in an intellectual sense, he was not my teacher or master. Though
my father was a bright and knowledgeable man, he never conveyed to me in words
any of his views, knowledge, or experience.

When on January 21, 1928,1was born, my father was 47 years old. The passing
of the years was certainly one reason for the scant attention he paid to my brother
and me. But the prime consideration behind his altered behavior was the change in
his professional situation and in the political environment. | was not yet five when
Hitler came to power. That ascension did not bring any sudden switch in the local
network of German legations, any more than it did in many other fields. Years
passed before Nazi power became totalitarian, penetrating into every cell of the
system. | do not know quite when my father lost the right to use his title of “Legal
Adviser to the German Legation.” Initially, the only effect was that the legation
stopped recommending him to any more German firms; the existing ones did not
have to break with him for a while. But gradually the clients dropped away, al-
though there were German businessmen in Hungary who remained faithful right
up to my father’s death.

As the number of clients dwindled, so did the family income. My father never
spoke of money matters to us, but | was able to ascertain later that we lived on his
accumulated wealth rather than his current earnings. We younger children did not
have much sense of these financial problems. We lived prosperously in a spacious
and expensive apartment in the center of town and moved every summer to a fine
villa in the Rozsadomb district of Buda, the hilly side of Budapest. When we were
small, we had a German governess, and the family was looked after by several ser-
vants and a gardener. To make up for some of the income lost from his legal prac-
tice, my father partly cashed in his big life insurance policy and sold family jewelry
and artworks.*

* Not long ago my father’s notes that included a detailed list of his life insurance policies
came into my hands. He felt it was especially important to provide for my mother. But all
his plans fell through in the end, cautious though he had tried to be. The policies he had taken
out before World War | came to nothing because of the great inflation following the war.
Having learned his lesson, he took out valuable new policies with a German insurance com-
pany, one of the largest in the world, at the beginning of the 1930s; they were valorized to
keep up with inflation and fixed to “the value of the gold dollar.” This time he felt his insur-
ance was 100 percent secure. How could he have foreseen that the Hungarian franchise of
this Berlin company would be nationalized in the 1940s by the Communist regime, which,
ridiculing the principle of valorization, would set the value of one gold dollar at one forint
to pay my mother a ludicrously small annuity? It was shocking to see how my father’s circum-
spect and loving care was thwarted by history.
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The feeling that he was being squeezed out of his profession was a grave trial to
my father. He was still in full possession of his intellectual energies and professional
expertise, and his vocation as a lawyer was extremely important to him. Far more
serious were the problems and anxieties caused by the baneful historical trend that
had, among other things, brought on the change in his professional and financial
position. The power of Hitler was increasingly displaying its merciless side. News
came of persecution of the Jews. Germany occupied Bohemia and Moravia, Austria
was annexed (my father had a brother living in Vienna), the first anti-Jewish laws
were passed in Hungary as well, and the war broke out.

One strict principle of my father’s was not to join any political party or move-
ment. He had bad memories from the time of the 1919 Commune, the short-lived
communist rule that was accompanied and followed by terror. Nonetheless, he was
far from what was known at that time as a conservative. | never heard him direct
any comment against left-wingers. He subscribed to a liberal morning paper, and
any other paper he bought would be liberal as well. So far as | can judge from his
scattered remarks, he was liberal (as this term is understood in Europe) in his think-
ing. But although he would have liked to have stayed away from politics, history
began to intervene is his family life—first as distant rumbles of thunder, and later
as direct lightning strikes.

My father never denied being Jewish, but he did not flaunt it either. There were
quite a number of Jews in his social circle, yet he had non-Jewish friends too. Al-
though he believed in God, he was not religious and did not attend the synagogue
or observe the rituals of the Jewish religion. Nevertheless, whenever he made a char-
itable donation, it was to the boys’ orphanage run by the Jewish congregation. Per-
haps he remembered being orphaned himself. He had not the remotest intention of
putting a seal on his assimilation by converting to Christianity.

One thing my father was proud of was his record in World War I. He had been
commissioned as a captain and won high decorations. He did not hesitate to call
himself a Hungarian. After my brother Bandi had done his military service and was
discharged with the rank of corporal, my father had new uniforms made for them
both. They had their photograph taken looking confidently ahead as father and
son in their captain’s and corporal’s uniforms. A year or two later, the Hungarian

My father gave minute instructions to his heirs about the measures to take with the insur-
ance policies. | recognized myself in this meticulousness: I normally drum instructions into my
colleagues or members of my family in the same way. Some receive my directives with grati-
tude, some just smile, while others feel annoyed and reject them. Where does this likeness
to my father come from? Did | see manifestations of these habits as a child (I do not remem-
ber any) and follow the pattern? Or is it possible that this behavior forms part of my genetic
inheritance?
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gendarmerie would be loading the father into a railway truck bound for Auschwitz,
while the son would be in civilian clothes enduring forced labor under Hungarian
military command on the Don Bend, where he was to die of exposure or illness.

My family

My father was very generous toward us even in the years when his income was
falling. 1 became passionate about photography as a teenager, and straightaway he
bought me one of the best cameras available at the time. When | needed equipment
for developing and enlarging the pictures, that was immediately provided as well.
When | developed a love of books, he helped me repeatedly with sums of money.
Yet the center and source of warmth in the family was not my father but my
mother—Muny@, as we all called her. (Her maiden name was Aranka Schatz.)

As small children, we had kind governesses to look after us. | think back on them
all fondly, and | was positively enamored of the last one, the slim, beautiful Liesl.
But even if the daily tasks of looking after us were given over to a Fraulein, my
mother found innumerable occasions to express her tenderness. She was not highly
educated or cultivated, but her native wits were sharp. Her refined and interesting
beauty was coupled with a natural, innate elegance. Perhaps it was Freud who
wrote that self-confidence and ambition in adulthood depend largely on how much
love children receive from their mothers early in life. | received vast quantities. One
of the stories that Munyo6 gladly repeated was how | had been the one of her four
children she had suffered with most during her pregnancy. When she was constantly
in pain and sick, her doctor reassured her: “You will see, my good lady; this will be
the child that brings you most joy.” This she told me many times, even when | was
small. She did not deny that | was the favorite among her four children. She rejoiced
in my little successes, giving me praise and encouragement. | cannot remember her
scolding me once. She never checked on my schoolwork. When | was at elementary
school, if | ever complained of a setback or of difficulties in my studies, she just
encouraged me and never gave advice: “You will work it out,” she would say. “I
am not anxious about you, you will manage.” | cannot imagine a stronger induce-
ment than that kind of maternal encouragement and unconditional trust.

Corporal punishment was quite unknown in my family. Once, as a teenager, my
brother Tomi, who was three years older than me, began to wrestle with the young
housemaid who worked in our house. His behavior fell short of what today would
be called sexual harassment, but it went beyond what my parents considered accept-
able. That night, my father came into our room and kicked—not Tomi, but the side
of the bed. That kick and a few words of rebuke were enough to express his indig-
nation. It was the most severe “punishment” of my whole childhood. Not until
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1944, when | came face to face with human cruelty, did | experience or see with my
own eyes the intentional infliction of bodily pain or hear angry shouts or someone
being verbally abused. Utter aversion to raised voices or shouting, let alone physical
indignities, beatings, or torture, was deeply instilled in me.

Life for my oldest brother Bandi, born in 1914, began cheerfully and reassuringly.
As he was nearing the end of his university studies, a friend of his was preparing to
emigrate to England. Bandi wanted to go as well, but my father would not allow it. |
do not know exactly what my father’s arguments were, but | heard later from my
sister that he said we were Hungarians and our place was here. He apparently also
argued that the eldest son should stay with the family. My brother was not a rebel-
lious sort and concurred with my father’s wishes. He ended his short life, as | have
said, on the Russian front. | had little contact with him because of the large age
difference between us, but | remember him fondly for his kindness and good humor
and with an aching heart when I think of how young he died.

I had the closest sentimental and intellectual ties with my sister Lilly, born in
1919, who was nine years older than me. We would read poetry together. She intro-
duced me to the stories of Frigyes Karinthy, one of the most popular of twentieth-
century Hungarian authors, known mainly for his satirical writings. She was the
first to play me Debussy and Schumann on the piano. It must have lent confidence
to me—a bashful, inhibited young teenager, thin as a rake—to have a beautiful,
bright older sister who took me seriously, discussed the great subjects in life with
me, and took me around with her. Until the day of her death, we remained in an
intimate friendship that rested not only on feelings but also on shared intellectual
values. Even with the Lilly of later years, tied to a sickbed and suffering, | could
easily hold a lively political discussion or talk over a shared literary experience.*

Very different was my relationship with my other brother, Tomi, who was born in
1925. For a long time, we went to the same school, and we had the same governess.
We played together a lot, and as brothers will, we had little fights, friendly and less
friendly. As soon as Tomi began to take an interest in girls, he broke with me alto-
gether. We never went anywhere together, never shared friends, and never had one
serious conversation. That relationship changed little when we grew up; our meet-
ings stayed on the level of superficial banter and chat. | see in this evidence of how
a common inheritance built into our brain cells and an almost identical home and

* Lilly (Mrs. Andor Gardonyi) worked as an accountant and retired as the company’s chief
auditor. A firm and resolute person, she lived according to strict principles. She did not talk
much about herself, but she was always sympathetic to the problems of others. It was touch-
ing to see the close relationship that the bedridden old lady formed with our daughter, Judit,
and our Swedish grandchildren, Zséfi and Anna, who absolutely adored her. Lilly died in
2002



1 My Family and Youth

school background do not suffice to bind two brothers closely together. The things
that were individual in myself and in my brother Tomi and the ways we differed had
a stronger effect not only on our relations but also on the development of our very
different characters and life stories.>

The two parents and four children in the Kornhauser family truly loved one
another, though we did not share activities or even meet every day. My father and
mother were exceptionally close, but the children led their own lives, distinct from
their parents and each other.

After my father’s office was moved into the apartment, my mother would some-
times dress up elegantly for the evening and join the clients in the waiting room.
This was her way of signaling that it was time to end a working day that was
stretching far into the night. My father would then have no choice but to stop
work and go out with my mother. They dined out without us nearly every evening.
Family meals were almost unknown. Each person would eat lunch or dinner sepa-
rately, when he or she was hungry or had time. It was rare for the family all to sit
down together; the occasions when we did were largely confined to summer, in the
garden of our holiday home.

To return to the subject of myself—my parents and my brothers and sister never
interfered in how | divided my time, what I studied and for how long, whom | spent
my spare time with, what | was reading, or what play | was going to. Occasionally
we would get together, especially in the summer, and go to an open-air perfor-
mance, or watch the August 20 fireworks celebrating the feast day of King Stephen,
the founder of Hungary. But these shared outings were exceptional.

At the age of 13 or 14, | decided for myself that | was going to attend concerts
regularly. Later | brought up the idea of learning the piano, and my father helped
me to find a teacher—not just any teacher, either, for Frigyes Sandor, then an unem-
ployed conductor, later became a great music teacher and established an orchestra.
He taught me until the German occupation of Hungary in 1944 brought our lessons
to an end. | decided for myself, about halfway through my secondary education,
that | wanted to learn English outside school. My parents paid for each of these
activities, but | did not do them on their recommendation or following their advice.
These were my own ideas; | decided on them for myself.

* My older brother Tomi (Tamas Kornai) graduated from the College of Applied Arts and
had planned to become a graphic artist. However, soon after he returned from doing forced
labor, he changed his career and worked in the advertising business for the rest of his life. He
was one of the managers of the single state-owned advertising enterprise, and then moved on
to the National Savings Bank (Orszagos Takarékpénztar, or OTP). He was proud that his
ideas had been the basis for the first advertisements for the Hungarian lottery, slogans that
quickly became household words. Tomi died in 1996.
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It is not easy to assess or value the effect of such an upbringing. On the one hand,
| became imbued with feelings of loneliness and abandonment at being left to my
own devices. On the other, I gained, once and for all, an awareness or rather a feel-
ing that | had to shape my life independently, as my ideas dictated. That sense ap-
plied to matters great and small. | was not brought up to be selfish, because every
member of my family tried to be tactful toward the others, saving them from distur-
bance or annoyance. We helped each other when we could and should, but we did
not form any kind of family “community.” Today | think of myself as a self-aware
individualist, believing that respect for the sovereignty of the individual is among the
most important of moral imperatives. At the same time, | believe that | have the pri-
mary, principal responsibility for my own life and its successes and failures. | feel a
duty to help others, but I am not a “community” man. On the contrary, | resist any
attempt to drive me into a collective fold. Certainly what | state consciously today,
after turns and detours, an understanding to which | was helped by reading philo-
sophical works and gaining a lifetime of observation, was embedded in me deeply
by the experiences of my childhood and youth and by my family’s way of life at
home.

The Imperial German School

| began my studies at the Imperial German School (Reichsdeutsche Schule) in Buda-
pest. Thanks to the perfect German spoken by both my parents and to the successive
German Fréulein who had looked after me, | grew up bilingual. It was no problem
for me that everything at school—apart from Hungarian language, literature, and
history—was taught in German. | was admitted before the usual age, in 1933, so
my entering the German school coincided with the beginning of Nazi power.

People sometimes ask how my Jewish parents could ever have sent me there. It
has already been made clear that my father felt a strong attachment to the Germans.
To a marked extent, he was brought up on German culture, and he studied German
law alongside Hungarian. His clients were Germans and German was the language
in which he did much of his work.

My father must certainly have known that Hitler and his followers were virulent
anti-Semites, but like many in Germany and all over the world, he must have
thought the regime would not last. How could the spirit of the Germans, the most
civilized of people, put up with it? He never guessed that this road of hatred on
which Germany set out would end at the gas chambers.

My parents sent me to the Imperial German School to expand my knowledge of
the language and to benefit from its academic excellence. It was favored not only by
German diplomats and businessmen but also by other foreigners in Hungary. My
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classmates were Austrian, German, American, and Turkish, as well as Hungarian.
The school turned out celebrated people: Miklés Gimes, the journalist, politician,
and 1956 martyr; Ivan Darvas, a celebrated actor; Eva Székely, an Olympic cham-
pion swimmer; Ferenc Karinthy, a writer of novels and short stories; and El6d
Halész, a highly respected Hungarian scholar of German studies.

We had patient, experienced, knowledgeable teachers. Never in the eight years |
spent there did | hear a single anti-Semitic remark. Nor can | remember any word
of praise for Hitler and his rule. When the order came from Berlin that the Jewish
students had to leave, the parents were informed tactfully through the teacher of
Jewish religious instruction that they would have to enroll their children elsewhere
in the fall of 1941. Even then, those who had only one year left of the twelve were
allowed to finish their studies as private pupils the following year, and so take their
final examinations. It seems probable that liberal teachers in Germany trying to es-
cape from the unbearable life at home would seek jobs abroad, for instance at the
Hungarian school. Our school was an amicable island, not just in the sea of Nazism
but in the Hungarian school system generally, where Hitlerite ideas were perceptibly
gaining ground.

I think back to my teachers at the German school with gratitude and respect.
They accustomed me to studying thoroughly and thinking straight and imparted
to me a huge amount of knowledge. | still make use of all their gifts today. But |
did not meet any truly great figures among my teachers. | was not taught by any
master with charisma, whose personality and teaching provided a real intellectual
and moral model.

One large reward I received from the Imperial German School was the friendship
of a lifetime. One of my classmates from the first grade onward was Péter Kende,
later a journalist, scholar, and political scientist, as well as one of the leading intel-
lectual figures in the 1956 émigré community. We went through eight years of
school and later worked together in the youth movement and in journalism. We
took part together in various struggles. Though Peter’s emigration to Paris put a
geographical distance between us for more than thirty years, our friendship re-
mained and continues to strengthen to this day. Few people can take pride in hav-
ing, as | have, a best friend of seventy years’ standing.

Seeking an intellectual path

After the German school—cosmopolitan to some extent, with its pupils of several
nationalities, and coeducational, which was still exceptional in those days—I entered
a new, conservative environment at the Werb6czy boys’ gymnasium in Buda. Most
of my classmates and the other pupils came from well-to-do middle-class homes.
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The war was raging by that time. The teachers in the German school had re-
strained us from talking about politics and the war. Here | had a principal teacher
who loudly praised Germany’s conduct of the war and repeatedly predicted a Ger-
man victory as the battle for Stalingrad took place in 1942—1943. He taught us
three main subjects: Latin, Hungarian literature, and history. He declared in front
of several of my classmates that no Jew was going to get a top mark in all three
from him, and he kept his word. There were two of us Jews in the class who really
deserved the top grade in all subjects, but Mr. Heged(is was prepared to award that
mark in only two of his courses, and downgraded us in the third. That was my first
experience of open discrimination.

My second such experience involved not the individual prejudices of a teacher but
a general state ordinance applying to all. One outward sign of Hungary’s participa-
tion in the war was that all secondary school pupils received preliminary military
training as members of a movement known as Levente. While | was still at the
German school, all the boys had Levente training together. My arrival at the Hun-
garian school coincided with an order dividing the military training for non-Jewish
and Jewish pupils. | cannot say we were treated particularly cruelly. What | found
demeaning was the simple existence of a “Jewish Levente” and the exclusion and
segregation it represented.

Most of the class had been together for four years when | joined them. The boys
gave me a friendly reception. With some | would go to concerts and plays; with
others | had discussions about books. But I did not develop close ties with anyone
and tended rather to stick with the friends | had made at the German school. What |
said about the atmosphere at the previous school was truer still of this one. I did not
encounter one great personality among the teachers. | remember some cracks made
by various teachers and some of their mannerisms, but none of them gave me lasting
intellectual inspiration.

Apart from the factual information imparted, what | heard about history, philos-
ophy, and the human spirit in school left me quite unaffected. |1 educated myself and
developed my own tastes and ideas. Eager for intellectual influences, I consumed
books at high speed. | bought books constantly and built up a fine collection.*

| joined the nearby lending library and brought home reading material from there.
| found it quite difficult to decide what to read. One help was Antal Szerb’s books

4 These were carefully kept for me by family friends during the months of persecution. As
soon as we came out of the cellars, | hastened to bring my books home and have them near
me again. They had survived the siege of Budapest, which lasted from Christmas 1944 to
mid-February 1945; the air raids; and the looting. Then all but one volume were lost only a
few weeks later, when, early in 1945, Soviet soldiers suddenly ordered us to leave our apart-
ment. The survivor is a great favorite of mine, Thomas Mann’s Tonio Kroger.
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on the history of Hungarian and of world literature. While our principal teacher
spoke of them as “trash” and more or less forbade us to read them (Szerb was a
Jew), | found their guidance invaluable. | complemented Szerb’s works with Mihaly
Babits’s literary history of Europe. | tried to read all the books that these guides
described as great. It now seems almost incredible how much time | managed to
spend on them. | was usually up at dawn and could finish all my studying for school
in one or two hours. After school, | spent the whole afternoon and evening either
meeting and talking to friends or reading. One week | would be in War and Peace
and the next on to The Brothers Karamazov. | read Balzac and Flaubert, the classi-
cal Hungarian writers Kalman Mikszath and Zsigmond Méricz, the wonderful po-
etry of Janos Arany and Attila Jozsef, the brilliant Hungarian verse translations
from various foreign languages of Arpad T6th and Dezsé Kosztolanyi—and | could
carry on for a long time listing all the books I enjoyed.

| also looked through the articles on intellectual subjects and the arts in the
weekend supplements to the daily papers, again as a way of deciding what to read.
Certainly it must ultimately have been an awareness of the intellectual fashions of
the day that led me to the writings of Ortega y Gasset and Huizinga and Oswald
Spengler. | was delighted as well to find works that gave an overview of particular
spheres of intellectual life and thinking, such as Will Durant’s history of philosophy.
I cannot have understood more than half the real content of what | read between the
ages of 14 and 16. There was no one to offer me a clear worldview—not my
parents, my brothers and sister, or my teachers in the class on religion. | was open
to all new ideas. | was pitched and tossed among alternative answers to the chal-
lenges of the world. One day, | would be influenced by Dostoyevsky and | felt |
had to become a Christian. The next day, perhaps, | would be leafing through Ana-
tole France, under the spell of his ironical view of the world, a view reinforced as |
enjoyed Voltaire’s Candide.

During those years, | still had no idea of what | wanted to do when I grew up. My
nephew, P4l Gyd6rfi, decided while he was still in kindergarten that he wanted to be
an ambulance paramedic, and that is what he became. | had no such sense of voca-
tion. Perhaps there were already developing in me some traits that would later be
fulfilled in my research work. I liked my things to be in order. | had a strong urge
to finish completely what | put my hand to. If | was taking photographs, I would
concentrate all my energies on that activity. If | was collecting books, | wanted my
library to contain every book considered a masterpiece. If | took to stamp collecting,
my album had to be as comprehensive as possible. Even as a boy, | found chaos,
untidiness, and half-completed tasks annoying.

But these characteristics and endeavors of mine had nothing to do with the direc-
tion of my intellectual interest. To extrapolate the intellectual development of my
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14- to 16-year-old self (now, with hindsight) into my later years, | see a bookish
egghead’s profile appearing, someone who might write literary criticism or explore
questions of aesthetics. There is still no sign of the man who would turn to the
urgent problems of society and become a research economist twelve or fifteen years
later.

I still thought then that the more knowledge | gained, the better the understanding
of the world building up inside me would be. One view was being written over each
day by the next, to use an image from computers. In fact, | was waiting with open
heart and open mind for one true, strong intellectual impulse. And that arrived in
1945—but let us not jump so far forward. We have only reached my final years of
secondary school, when the trauma of 1944 was still ahead.

1944: The fate of my father

March 19, 1944, began like any other Sunday. | was preparing to go to a morning
concert with a friend. The concert was canceled; the German army had begun its
occupation of Hungary.

A week or two later, my father received conscription papers, similar to the ones
for Jews assigned to forced labor service. He had to present himself forty-eight hours
later at a specified place with camp equipment from blanket to mess tin and with
cold rations for two days. Because my father had passed his sixty-third birthday by
then, he could not be conscripted into the regular labor service, which had an age
limit of 60.

My parents were tormented by premonitions. They learned from telephone calls
that some other well-known Jewish intellectuals and businessmen had been called
up like my father. We children were not drawn into my parents’ anxious discus-
sions, but | could subsequently reconstruct, from what my mother said, the courses
of action they had been weighing.

My mother came up with the idea that the two of them should commit suicide to-
gether. That was rejected; they could not abandon the other members of the family
in such dangerous times. My mother asked my father if he would not try to go into
hiding. Friends were prepared to make a sacrifice, including some Germans; people
would give him shelter. My father dismissed this suggestion out of hand for two
reasons. One was that he thought the risk was too great: he feared that if he were
found there would be bloody reprisals against him and likewise against the family
hiding him. The other was that his call-up was a state order that had to be obeyed.
That response brings me to one of the underlying principles of my father’s view of
the world. He was a lawyer: not just any attorney, but a man with a consistent and
passionate respect for the law. He would certainly have come across and read about
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cases in which morality and legal statutes came into conflict. I am sure he must have
thought time and again what kind of law it was that a tyrant dictated, what kind
of law it was that a sham parliament would pass while trampling on fundamental
human rights. And yet, when he found himself faced with this dilemma in relation
to his own life, this moral man so meticulous about honesty and incorruptibility ap-
plied the simplest formula. A state order was a state order, a command a command
that had to be obeyed.

It turned out that one or two hundred prominent members of the Jewish elite in
Budapest were being rounded up as hostages during the early weeks of the German
occupation. At first, they were lodged at the Rabbinical Seminary on Rokk Szilard
utca, in relatively tolerable conditions and under Hungarian police control.1 A few
weeks later, their families were given permission to visit them. My mother, my
sister, and | went to see him, as by that time both my brothers were in the forced
labor service: Bandi, the elder, on the Russian front, and Tomi at Bor in Yugoslavia.
So they could not be with us. We met in the courtyard of the seminary. My father’s
expression and remarks were calm and, if my memory does not deceive me, almost
cheerful. Nothing emotional was said. He gave some practical advice to my mother,
who up to then had been concerned only with entertaining friends and relations and
with matters to do with her children, while financial affairs and the administrative
side of the household were looked after by my father. These matters all fell suddenly
on my mother, and my father tried to give her various kinds of information on
them. Later he sent a letter proposing what to do with our apartment and instruct-
ing her where to store the files from his law practice.v Neither at the meeting nor in
the letter was there a farewell from him, beyond the tender words of greeting cus-
tomary in the family.

We never received another line from my father, and we never saw him again.

While he was still in the seminary building, efforts were being made on his behalf.
Some of his faithful German clients formed a little delegation and went to see Am-
bassador Edmund Veesenmayer, the Gauleiter with a dreadful reputation sent to
Hungary at the time of the occupation. The delegation asked the Germans to re-
quest that the Hungarian authorities send my father home. They cited the credit
due to the attorney Dr. Pal Kornhauser for the way he had represented German
business interests in Hungary for several decades. One member of the group later
told my mother what followed: Veesenmayer flew into a rage and threatened to in-
tern the applicants alongside Kornhauser if they did not clear out of his office right
away.*

* Could I have inherited the drive to always keep my files of documents and notes in meticu-
lous order, or have | just copied my father’s example?
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There are only uncertain accounts of what happened to my father after that. Ap-
parently the whole group was transferred to a camp at Horthy-liget (today’s Sziget-
szentmiklos), where conditions were harder but where a life of internment continued
for a while.2 This came to a sudden end when they were all put on a train taking
provincial deportees to the death camp at Auschwitz.

The deaths of all the six million victims of the Holocaust were tragic and the
death of every victim was preceded by a unique, individual life. Nonetheless, my
father’s fate was peculiar. For one thing, he was killed by the German reign of terror
with the eager cooperation of the Hungarian authorities. His death occurred despite
the fact that he had been captivated by German culture since early youth, had him-
self set out to promote the prosperity of German industry and commerce through
his legal practice, and had himself thereby worked for honesty and legality in
German-Hungarian relations. Of course he had never supported Hitler or collabo-
rated with the Nazi authorities, but he died not because he stood aside passively
but because he was a Jew.

Another peculiar aspect of my father’s tragedy has been mentioned already: he
was a faithful servant of legality, and therefore did not wish to oppose the authority
of the state. He went as a defenseless lamb to the slaughter, falling victim to the
most blatant and inhuman abuse of justice, the law, and the power of the state.

1944: My escape

If my father had still been at home, he would certainly have commented on what |
ought to do. I do not know whose will would have been the stronger—my father’s,
who, as | mentioned earlier, had prevented my brother Bandi from emigrating at
a critical juncture, or mine—for | was used to acting quite independently on lesser
matters in life.

Since my father had gone and my mother could not and did not wish to influence
my decisions, | was left to my own 16-year-old judgment. In this case, it was a
matter of much greater import than what books | should read or what language |
should set about learning. The year 1944 was one of life-and-death decisions.

News of deportations had begun to fly about. We had no idea then that the
deportees would be killed in gas chambers; we thought they were being sent to the
kind of forced labor camp that my brothers Bandi and Tomi were serving in. We
had recently had news of Bandi and Tomi. We knew they were having a hard time,
suffering from hunger and cold and sometimes inhuman treatment, but we were not
without hope that they would survive the war.

We also heard that Jews working in arms factories would not be deported (al-
though this rumor later proved wrong). Therefore, two friends of mine and I turned
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up of our own accord to work as laborers at the Nagybatony-Ujlak Brickworks on
the periphery of Bécsi it.* From being a secondary school student who had never
done manual work and who was awkward and weak at sports, | suddenly turned
into a laborer, indeed one doing very demanding and tiring physical tasks. The raw
bricks, still heavy with water, were lifted by skilled, practiced workers out of a con-
tinuously operating press and placed on a trolley that ran on rails. We recruits had
to push the trolleys to the sheds and stack the bricks neatly.

For a while, we went into the factory and home again in the evening, wearing the
compulsory yellow star. Later, a curfew was imposed, restricting our movements. By
the time the shift was over, it was too late to go home. We had no choice but to
move out to the factory and sleep there in the sheds as best we couldT

This unwonted lifestyle has not left any bitter memories in me. On the contrary, it
was a bit like those summer camps involving agricultural work or construction that
young people would be attending by the end of the 1940s. We were motivated by
fear, but we went to work there “voluntarily.” We cheerfully put all our energies
into the job and adapted to the conditions. It was a great relief to find that the expe-
rienced workers at the brickworks who were now our colleagues never said a dis-
paraging word. There was not a single comment about the star glaring out from
our clothes, no word of abuse against Jews. If we were clumsy, they showed us
what to do or told us off, just as they would any other beginner who produced
“tripe” (spoilage). One older worker invited us to his home and offered us food
and drink. | saw how they lived. They had clean, orderly little apartments, but to
me they seemed unbelievably poor compared with the prosperity in which my
friends and | had been living. At home as well, | had always been on good terms
with the domestic staff, often talking to them, visiting their homes, and meeting their
families. But that had been a paternalistic relationship between an employee and a
member of the employer’s family. It differed altogether from this, my first real en-
counter with the “working class.” | had suddenly stepped into a different world,
leaving a life of almost hermetically sealed prosperity and comfort for one of

* Although it was not yet a conscious principle, | instinctively, or under the pressure of cir-
cumstances, started to learn that one has to choose when presented with alternatives in life.
An attitude developed in me of not liking to passively submit to fate. Instead | would try to
take the direction of my life into my own hands. Later | deliberately embraced this behavior
as one of my basic principles of life. Of course, the resolution to make a choice does not guar-
antee that the decision will always be a good one. The work | did for the brick factory, for
example, proved to be superfluous, as will shortly be seen.

f While | was living in the brick factory, my mother and sister had to leave our apartment on
Akadémia utca. The Jews were being moved into the “star” houses, marked with a Star of
David. My mother and sister were taken in by some old friends of my parents, a family who
lived in one of the “Jewish houses” on Pozsonyi (t.
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punishing physical labor in a factory operated with obsolete technology and of
meager homes. | found myself among people whom | could sincerely respect for
their hard lives and natural humanity.

The Nagybatony-Ujlak Brickworks later became one of the transit points for the
mass deportations. It features in the stories of many people who returned after being
deported, several of whom have said that they were helped by people working there.
Sharp clashes took place between the clerks, gendarmes, and police carrying out the
deportations on the one hand and brickyard workers on the other. Apparently,
some workers even paid with their lives for their willingness to help the deportees.
Unfortunately, | have not found trustworthy corroboration of that claim.

The pressure on Budapest’s Jews became somewhat lighter in the summer of
1944. Deportation of the provincial Jews had been completed and word was going
around that those in Budapest were not going to be deported after all. Meanwhile 1
found a kind doctor, Istvan Szabd, willing to risk giving me a false certificate declar-
ing me unfit for hard manual labor, and | was allowed to leave the brickworks.

Autumn was approaching and the beginning of the school term. | was supposed
to begin the last year before the school-leaving exams. | decided | was not going to
arrive in the class with a yellow star on me. To my classmates’ credit, | must say that
I had never heard a single anti-Semitic remark from them; but | had bad feelings
about never having received any sign of sympathy from them either, any more than
I had from non-Jewish friends and acquaintances at other schools. They did not visit
or phone. When | ran into a couple of them after the war, | reproached them with
their silence, but they looked at me uncomprehendingly, as if they could not grasp
what they had neglected to do. They had often thought about me with goodwill and
would like to have known what had become of me ... The schools we had attended
and the families who had raised us had not taught us how to express empathy, com-
passion, or solidarity.

| spent the summer and early autumn doing nothing. We moved from the “star”
house to my sister’s apartment under a curious deal with a gendarmerie captain,
who became the official tenant. My sister agreed with him that if we perished and
he and his family survived, the tenancy and the whole contents of the flat would be
theirs. If we survived the storm, however, we would move back and they would go
elsewhere. The latter turned out to be case, but in the summer of 1944 we had
no way of telling what the future would bring. While my mother was busy in the
kitchen, three of us—my sister Lilly; the captain’s kind, good-humored, six-months
pregnant wife; and l—would tell each other the kind of jokes enjoyed by 16-year-
olds, laughing loudly like people with nothing more to lose.

On October 15, Governor Horthy, the head of the Hungarian state, issued his no-
torious proclamation about a cease-fire to be agreed on with the Soviet army. Soon



1 My Family and Youth 17

after, bands of the Hungarian Nazis, the Arrow-Cross men, appeared in the streets.
The terror lasted ten weeks on the Pest side, starting with sporadic killings and esca-
lating into mass murder. It was another month before Germans and the Hungarian
Arrow-Cross could be cleared from the Buda side.

A few days after the Arrow-Cross seized power came a mobilization order, calling
up all Jews into forced labor, even those younger and older than the 18-60 age
bracket liable for military service. | was among those called up and put into a labor
company consisting of boys my own age and elderly men. The troops marched
off from the raceway, where the new labor service men were gathering and were
assigned to companies. Our quarters for the first night was a new, half-completed
wing at Ferihegy Airport. There each of us used his pack as a pillow. When dawn
came, an old man was lying motionless a few feet away. The turmoil and the march
had been too much for him. | was seeing a dead man for the first time.

When we got to Vecsés, a small town about 20 kilometers from Budapest, we
were quartered in some stables, about a hundred men lying side by side on the
straw. Here there was none of the jovial camp atmosphere of the nights we had
spent in the brickworks. The elderly members of the company were suffering. Any-
one who had to get up in the night would stumble as he stepped over the others in
the dark. Every morning, men accustomed to warm bathrooms tried to wash as best
they could in ice-cold water. We were given precious little to eat. Out in the fields
where we had to dig trenches, we dug up carrots for ourselves to stave off starva-
tion. The members of the company remained strangers to each other. The time was
too short for any ties of comradeship or friendship to develop. | had no one to share
my cares and problems with.

Yet there too | encountered warm gestures of humanity. One day we had to churn
up a family garden, because we had been ordered by the camp guards in charge of
us to dig a trench there. The owners did not vent their wrath on us for the damage.
On the contrary, a nice little fair-haired girl suddenly appeared with a pail of bean
soup for the starving team. Marta was the girl’s name and by chance I ran into her
again many years later, when she was a typist in the office where | was a journalist.
While sharing memories of the war, we discovered that her parents had been our
guardian angels and | was one of those they had selflessly helped. It was a tiny
good deed, a pail of soup. Still, this is one of several examples | give when anyone
makes false generalizations about all Hungarians watching unsympathetically as the
Jews were persecuted.

Already we could hear the Soviet artillery quite close when on November 2, 1944,
we received an order to leave Vecsés straightaway and march toward Budapest. The
company moved off on All Souls’ Day, known in Hungary as the Day of the Dead—
a few dozen young boys and perhaps 100 to 150 elderly men. The camp guards
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escorted us to the borders of Budapest. As they had during our stay in Vecsés, they
kept tight discipline on the road, but they did not amuse themselves by torturing us
or devising sadistic orders that would lead to a swift collapse or death. They set a
fast but still bearable pace.

Since then, | have often passed the military buildings in UllGi Gt where the Arrow-
Cross Party militiamen with their armbands and green shirts took over the company
from the camp guards. Afewmoments later, the first new order was yelled out: “On
the double!” We young ones could stand running even after a march of several miles
from Vecsés to Budapest, but several of the older men began to lag behind. The
Arrow-Cross youths took their rifle butts to anyone who stopped. The drive and
the beatings for those who lagged behind continued along UlIGi Gt and down to
Miklés Horthy (now Petdfi) Bridge. | saw merciless treatment being meted out to
those in front of me and those behind. Perhaps five or even more elderly men were
beaten over the head before my eyes. When we reached the bridge, two people
broke ranks and jumped into the Danube. The Arrow-Cross fired at them. | do not
know whether they were hit or they got away.

We were utterly exhausted and psychologically broken when we arrived in
Albertfalva, where we spent the night. It had indeed been a Day of the Dead. The
20 kilometers from Vecsés to Albertfalva was quite a distance even for people in
good health. Early the next morning | decided that | would have to escape.

Luckily a good opportunity arose. Raoul Wallenberg, the heroic Swedish diplo-
mat, at this time was carrying out his rescue campaign all over Budapest, using a
number of techniques. Some people were given Swedish passports that were not ex-
actly the same as those held by real Swedish citizens. That document had written on
it the German word Schutzpass, meaning “protective passport,” which certified that
the holder was a Swedish citizen. Others had a document of less legal weight called
a Schutzbrief (letter of safe conduct), which stated that the bearer was under the
protection of the Swedish Embassy in Budapest. The former had to be respected
even by the Arrow-Cross government, but the latter really had no meaning or force
under international law.

| had the second type of document in my pocket: impressive looking but of little
import. It had been obtained for me by a friend of the family, Ern6 Wahrmann,
one of my sister Lilly’s admirers. Early one morning, one of the Arrow-Cross
commanders gave the order for those with Swedish passports to line up. | had only
amoment to decide. If I stood up with the Swedes and they noticed | did not have a
genuine Swedish passport, | might be shot dead out of hand. | decided to take the
risk and class myself as a Swede.

Luckily, the youngster checking the documents did not perceive the fine distinc-
tion between a Schutzpass and a Schutzbrief and left me in the Swedish squad. We
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were put in a truck and taken to Pest. The rest of the men remained in the original
detachment, and it was whispered that they would be driven further west. | chanced
to meet a survivor many years later and learned what had happened to them. By the
time they reached the Austrian border, only a couple of them were dtill alive. Beat-
ings, starvation, and the forced pace of the march had killed the rest.

The Swedish squad from Albertfalva was taken with several other Swedish groups
to the spacious headquarters of a trade union in Pest. Although we had to sleep on
the ground, what a liberating feeling it was to have nobody mistreating us. We were
guarded by friendly young enlisted soldiers. Order was kept by “Swedish” officers
chosen from Hungarian Jews who had once held reserve officer rank. But however
tolerable the life was, | did not trust the Arrow-Cross to leave us in comfort for
long. It emerged later that | was right, as this group too was driven westward after
a short delay.

It was easy to escape from the Swedish house. One of the officers was a family
friend and arranged for the guard to look away while | stepped out of the door.

Free again, | could walk in the Pest streets unguarded. But how free was 1?
Although I was not wearing a yellow star, | did not have false papers either. If any
Arrow-Cross man or policeman, soldier, or civilian collaborating with them became
suspicious, | could be carried off to prison and to brutal interrogation. I had to hide.

Initially, 1 took refuge with dear Lujza, who had been the family housecleaner.
Her husband was the concierge in a large apartment house, and | slept in a room
there. They did not want to leave me alone in the apartment when they went to
work in the day, and so they would ask one or another of the residents to hide me.
| spent one day in a tram driver’s room and the next | was taken in by a prostitute.
Each of them knew the incalculable risk they ran: harboring Jews or army deserters
was punishable by “annihilation,” as the ubiquitous posters put it. Yet they did it,
and they thereby provide further examples of how wrong it is to generalize, how
unjust it would be to see only sadistic Arrow-Cross villains in the Hungarians. For
some Hungarians voluntarily and selflessly helped us, out of a sense of humanity, at
great danger to themselves.

I could not continue for long hiding like that, finding a new place to stay every
day. Again | had luck on my side. The family friend who had obtained the Wallen-
berg Scbutzhrief for me now used his connections in the Jesuit order. The Jesuit
fathers agreed to hide a group of Jews, including my sister’s husband and me. The
same friend of ours used his effective connections with the church to find refuge for
my mother and sister with the Sacré Coeur Sisters. Before going to my new hiding
place, | visited them, because who knew whether | would ever see them again. With-
out a star or identity papers, | hurried to the nunnery carrying a bunch of flowers in
my hand. My mother and sister greeted me with delight and we said farewell.
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The Jesuit monastery (now the premises of Rajk College, a dormitory and a place
of learning for economics students) gave us a friendly welcome. Many fugitives were
given asylum there by the superior,3 Father Jakab Raile.* | was the only youngster,
so | did not have a real partner for conversation. My brother-in-law and 1 kept up
the ties proper to relations, but we were never close to each other emotionally or in-
tellectually. Again | found myself in a community where | remained more or less
alone.

One of the fathers, whose name | unfortunately forget, invited me several times to
converse with him about religious beliefs, God, and the Christian and Jewish reli-
gions and philosophies. To others, we must have presented a curious sight—a Jesuit
father and a lanky, disheveled teenager walking up and down the garden in lively
conversation, while the artillery rumbled outside.

By that time, the Soviet army had closed around Budapest and street-by-street
fighting had begun in the outer districts. We lived in the belief that the prestige of
the Jesuit order would keep out the Arrow-Cross, but one morning a message came
from the fathers that the Arrow-Cross had begun to search the premises. | rushed
out onto the staircase and saw two armed men shouting there; 1 could not tell if
they were soldiers or Arrow-Cross militiamen. My brother-in-law and | escaped
onto the roof and lay down on the battens that the chimney sweeps used to reach
the chimneys. | did not know which to be more frightened of, the raid in the build-
ing or the bombardment of the city. There was a fearful noise from the bombs fall-
ing and from the artillery firing nearby. W hat is more, | was anxious not to fall off
the narrow plank. While the situation was frantic, there was also a hellish beauty in
the skyline of the city, with flashing gunfire seen from the rooftop. And the episode
had a grotesque side too, as a young Jewish bank clerk and a schoolboy bookworm
clung flattened out on boards laid across the roof of a Jesuit monastery.

We survived the raid, but our hosts now wanted us to move into the cellars. We
lived down there for two weeks, if | remember right, in cramped but relatively civi-
lized conditions. The monastery supplied us with food; we were certainly better fed
than most people in Budapest were at the time. Before the siege started, the houses
had been linked through the air-raid shelters in their cellars by opening doorways
between them where possible. One morning, the door from the cellar of the neigh-
boring house opened and a platoon of German soldiers entered. What did they
want? Was it a raid? Did they want to drive us out? No, already by then that was

* Jakab Raile was the provincial of the Jesuits in Hungary in 1944. There are no reliable data
on how many people were hidden in the house. One source estimates the number at 100, an-
other at 150. In 1992, Father Raile received the title “Righteous among the Nations” from
the Israeli organization Yad Vashem. This honor is given to those who did the most to save
the persecuted Jews during the Holocaust.
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the least of their cares—they tried to flee. They were exhausted, broken men, drag-
ging themselves from one cellar to the next.

Perhaps one or two days after that visit from the defeated German platoon, the
Russians arrived. 1will never forget the sight we saw before us. There was an inside
staircase down to the cellar where we were concealed. We were living in anxiety
down below, when suddenly, three men appeared at the top of the steps. There
was Father Raile, the superior, in the habit of Jesuit priest. Beside him was a
ramrod-straight Soviet officer in Cossack uniform. Before, | had seen a uniform like
that only in operetta films, his belt of great cartridges worn on the outside across his
chest. The third man with them was one of us, the cantor of a synagogue in Subcar-
pathia,* who was known to speak Russian and Ukrainian and was now interpreting
between the Jesuit and the Soviet officer. We heard a few friendly words of greeting,
and then the persecution, the hiding, and the siege of the city were over for us.

The scene continued in a bizarre way. Down the steps to us, who had been per-
secuted, who had hidden in the Jesuit house for weeks, and who been freed just
moments before, came a couple of Russian soldiers, who with shouts of “Davay
chasi!” relieved us all of our wristwatches. | did not quite understand why they
were doing this or what it really meant, but I handed mine over without further ado.

We waited another day or two before all of us who had found refuge in the Jesuit
house said a grateful farewell and we all went our separate ways.

| set off for the little boulevard and soon found myself in front of the main syna-
gogue on Dohany utca. There | was astounded and moved to see frozen, naked
corpses stacked by the side of the road. There were piles as high as houses of dead
Jews who had perished in the ghetto around the synagogue.

| hurried on toward my sister’s apartment on Pozsonyi Gt. | entered, and there
were my mother and sister. All three of us who had been in Budapest during the
siege had survived!

A chapter in my life had ended. | was only a few days short of my seventeenth
birthday. | had not reached adulthood in a legal sense, but the year 1944 meant
that once and for all, | ceased to feel like a child or a minor who did not bear full
responsibility for myself.

* That is a region that was part of Hungary in 1944 and belongs to Ukraine now.






2

How | Became a Communist—1945-1947

I was working in Sweden in 1975. | had to travel to a meeting in New York, which
meant applying for my visa at the United States Embassy in Stockholm. As required
by the American law in force at that time, one question on the application asked
whether | had ever in my life been a member of the Communist Party. The embassy
official who took my form saw | had answered yes and suggested, kindly and help-
fully: “They must have forced you to join...” “Far from it,” I replied. “I joined of
my own free will. | joined because those were my convictions at the time.”

Half a century has passed since my Communist beliefs began to flicker and die.
But still, as I record and assess my life, the question of how and why | became a
Communist has lost none of its immediacy.

Grades of identification

The answer | gave to the U.S. embassy official was a slight simplification. Joining the
party entails a formal declaration in writing. Though a very important and conse-
quential act, this marks just one stage in a process of conversion, which begins out-
side the Communist Party and ends in complete identification with it. It usually
takes quite some time, and its course is affected by each person’s personality and
circumstances. Moreover, conversion in countries where the Communist Party is in
power differs from that in countries where the party is still struggling for power,
whether as a legal or an illegal organization. | will deal here only with the case of
a Communist Party in power.* The destruction of the Arrow-Cross regime in
Hungary was followed immediately by a coalition government that included the
Hungarian Communist Party and gave it powerful offices. (Later, after the period

* The Communist Party in Hungary changed its name several times. The Hungarian Commu-
nist Party (1944-1948) became the Hungarian Workers’ Party (1948-1956), and then Hun-
garian Socialist Workers’ Party (1956-1989). All these variations are covered in this book by
“Communist Party.”
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covered by this chapter, the Communist Party managed to seize exclusive political
power.)

It is worth distinguishing five grades of identification with the Communist Party,
which also trace the typical route.

The first step is being a sympathizer outside the party. Such people are drawn to
the party’s ideas and ready to support specific campaigns, and they vote for the
Communists in elections. They are fellow travelers, but do not accept (or have not
yet accepted) the commitment signaled by party membership.

The second is being a party member. There is emphatically no descriptor before
the phrase “party member.” Such members may be ardent or reticent, hardly visible
in party organizations. They may have moved from sincere sympathy with the party
to accepting the duties and discipline that accompany membership. Or communist
ideas may remain alien to these members, who have joined just for the advantages
they expect to gain by doing so.

The third step is being an active, committed party member. Such members attend
branch meetings regularly and take on party work. They stand by their communist
convictions.

The fourth step is being a true Communist. This entails being a trained Marxist-
Leninist, but that is not enough in itself. Think of the oft-quoted words that Stalin
spoke at Lenin’s funeral: “Comrades, we Communists are people of a special mould.
We are made of special stuff.”1 Indeed, true Communists, true Bolsheviks, differ
from non-Communists not just intellectually but in their behavior and character as
well. They must behave in a “party-like” way. All interests to do with the individ-
ual, family, friends, or colleagues must be subordinated to the party’s interests. True
Communists must obey every order from the party in a disciplined way, even if they
personally disagree with it. They must be ready to make any sacrifice the party may
require of them.

There is no sharp dividing line between the third and fourth grades. Members
with strong convictions would like to become true Communists. That is the human
ideal before them, and an extremely “dialectical” ideal it is. True Communists are
tortured by inner doubts as to whether their Marxist training is sufficient and
whether they are disciplined and self-sacrificing enough. The stronger their self-
critical awareness, the more their comrades see their communism as authentic, cer-
tain, and true.

The fifth step is being a party warrior, a professional party worker. This category
covers those who serve the party full-time rather than simply devoting some of their
time to party work. Such a member could be a party secretary or an employee in the
party apparatus, or a factory manager or an officer in the State Security Police
(Allamvédelmi Hatosag, or AVH). The key point is that he or she has been selected
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for the post by the party and may be recalled by the party at any time. Whatever the
job may be, the orders come from the party and the party’s interests are served.

Of course, the five grades make up only an abstract model of how an individual
develops into a Communist. They do not always follow a strict sequence. Several
steps may occur simultaneously, wholly or in part.

Some people stop at the first or some subsequent step of identification. | went the
whole course. This is my personal story, but I am sure many aspects of it are similar
or identical to that of others. My story is a fairly typical one.

I was still at school in the spring of 1945, preparing for the school-leaving exams
at the Reformed Church Gymnasium in the provincial town of Kiskunhalas. | had
been invited by a friend to move there, where it would be easier to find food, for a
couple of months. Returning to Budapest after the exams, in the summer of 1945
| started to visit the Fifth District branch of the Hungarian Democratic Y outh
Federation (Magyar Demokratikus Ifjusagi Szdvetség, or MADISZ), a Communist-
controlled organization. The first six or eight months of 1945 turned me from being
remote from the Communist Party into a Communist sympathizer (first grade).

| joined MADISZ that summer and became increasingly active. My Communist
sympathies grew stronger, and | formed the intention of joining the party.

By the end of the autumn, | had joined the Hungarian Communist Party and was
a full-time functionary at the MADISZ Budapest headquarters. So the second and
third grades overlapped: | was already an activist in a Communist-led movement
by the time 1| joined the party. And that overlap in a sense foreshadowed my later
embrace of the fifth grade, the role of a professional party warrior.

So it was the Budapest headquarters of MADISZ where my intention of becoming
a true Communist began to take shape. | was later promoted and transferred to the
national headquarters of MADISZ. That promotion marked the high point in my
youth movement career. By the time | reached it, | saw myself as a true Communist
and was seen as such by those around me. | had clearly reached the fourth or fifth
grade.

I was moved in this direction by several factors: | will describe them in terms of
the conversion process rather than chronologically, distinguishing the five grades
where that helps the analysis along.

Reaction to the trauma of 1944

| consider the association of the Jews with leadership of the Communist Party to be
gravely mistaken. It is blind stupidity and ignorance to say that Jews “have commu-
nism in their blood.” Although Marx was a Jew, Engels, Lenin, and Stalin were not.
Béla Kun and Matyas Rakosi, the Hungarian Communist leaders in 1919 and after
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1945, were Jews, but not the German W alter Ulbricht, the Polish Boleslaw Bierut,
or the Chinese Mao Zedong. And the racist charge can be refuted in reverse by list-
ing Jewish politicians who served not the communist cause but as leaders of social
democratic, liberal, or conservative parties and movements.

At the same time, many of the Hungarian Jewish intelligentsia, young and old,
were propelled toward the Communist Party by the trauma of 1944.

The persecution of Hungarian Jews did not start in 1944. It grew directly out
of the acts of the Horthy regime (1920—1944): its anti-Jewish laws that made anti-
Semitism official policy; its alliance with Hitler, concluded as an aid to revising
Hungary’s borders; and its entry into World War Il on Hitler’s side. Many Jews
therefore felt they had to support the Communist Party, which had raised the
sharpest opposition to the regime and had been persecuted as an illegal organization
throughout the Horthy period.

There was much talk about the Hungarian resistance movement in the weeks and
months after the Liberation. The Communists proclaimed that their people had been
the most active and self-sacrificing in the struggle. The truth was that the Hungarian
armed resistance had been weak, ineffective, and limited in scale. | have not studied
the question of the precise ratio of Communists to non-Communists among that
limited body of armed resisters. In the period when | was moving toward the Com-
munist Party, | certainly met Communists who had taken up arms against fascism. |
respected and admired them, and felt remorse that | had saved just my own skin and
not even tried to fight. Nor could | plead youth as an excuse. The Fifth District
MADISZ included people younger than 1 whom everyone honored as heroes of the
resistance: Homok (Ferenc Varnai) and Gabi Papp.

It was not just its past merits of resisting the Horthy regime and putting up armed
resistance that made the Communist Party worthy of respect and sympathy in the
eyes of a young Jewish boy. Another compelling force was anxiety about the future.
Couldn’t the tragedy be repeated? | am not thinking here of what the right answer
to that question might have been; | have no desire to discuss the fate of Hungarian
democracy or Hungary’s relations with the democratic West. W hat | am trying to
convey is the rough train of thought then running through my 17-year-old head (as
well as the heads of many other young people who had experienced a similar trau-
ma). Irrespective of what future socioeconomic system the Communist Party prom-
ised or what character the system in the Soviet Union possessed, the Communist
Party, through its political presence, role in government, and power, offered the
surest guarantee against a resurgence of fascism—and that seemed sufficient reason
to support it.

That line of argument, not any affinity on the genetic level, served to enhance the
Communist Party’s attraction in Jewish eyes.
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There was no way to separate at that time (or later) one’s judgment of the Com-
munist Party from one’s verdict on the Soviet Union. Those enthusiastic about the
Soviet Union also sympathized with the Hungarian Communist Party. Those who
harbored distaste or hatred for the Soviet Union felt antipathy for Hungarian Com-
munists as well.

When the Soviet forces in January-February 1945 chased out the German army
and its Hungarian Arrow-Cross henchmen, | felt wholeheartedly that we had been
liberated. | saw the Soviet soldiers as the people who had saved my life, and | felt
gratitude for the dreadful losses they had suffered on my behalf. That sense of grat-
itude quite suppressed in me the recognition that many soldiers of the Red Army
were behaving like ruffians and that their commanders were tolerating this behav-
ior. The odd theft I recalled in the previous chapter, when we were robbed of our
watches at the moment of liberation, was an event | found almost amusing. How-
ever, 1 could not smile when | discovered our apartment being pillaged on several
occasions. A group of Russian soldiers wielding machine guns burst through the
door, herded us into the air-raid cellar, gathered up a load of our possessions, and
left. We even had a regular, who robbed us several times. (We called him Bunker
Idi—“Go to the bunker,” in Russian—because that is what he would yell as he
brandished his gun and drove us down to the cellar.)

One close friend of mine told me in desperation that they had raped his mother.

I was taken several times for malinki robot (a little work)—digging a gun em-
placement in Budapest or driving horses when | was in the provinces. Luckily, I
always found my way back. By then we had heard of many civilians being taken
off for little tasks and subsequently put with the prisoners of war and carried off to
the Soviet Union.

What happened to me is known in psychology as the reduction of cognitive disso-
nance. | confined these ghastly experiences to my unconscious for many years; for if
they had surfaced, they would have weakened my confidence in the Soviet Union.
Or I tried to find in myself some explanation and excuse for inexcusable and unac-
ceptable behavior. In the meantime my confidence in the Soviet Union was strength-
ening to the point that it eventually became a blind, unconditional faith.

Before turning to other factors behind the changes in me, let me say something
more about my Jewishness. From the time | became close to the Communist Party,
my Jewish identity vanished almost completely, at least from the conscious levels of
my mind. An old classmate of mine at one point told me he was preparing to emi-
grate to Israel. The prospect left me quite cold.™ | was far from holding any idea of*

* Naturally 1 could have emigrated to a number of other places, not just Israel. To stay in
Hungary or to emigrate was a choice that came up then and many more times during my
life, and it is an issue | will discuss in greater detail in a later chapter.



28 1945-1947

vengeance for the persecution the Jews had suffered. It was immaterial to me how
many Jews were in the party leadership, for their being labeled as Jewish did not
make me feel closer to them. On the other hand, it never crossed my mind that this
same label might make them repugnant to many in a Hungarian society long poi-
soned by anti-Semitism.

It seemed natural to me that the name Kornhauser—which sounded German and
thus indicated a Jewish background—would have to be changed to something that
sounded more Hungarian, like Kornai. Nobody actually suggested | do this. | de-
cided to change my name of my own accord, also as part of my effort to counteract
the painful experience of discrimination by “assimilating” into Hungarian society.

The erosion of my Jewish identity was facilitated, of course, by changes in Hun-
garian law and public life. You no longer had to declare your religion on official
forms. There was no more talk about a “Christian course,” with its overtones of
exclusion. Crude, open manifestations of racial and religious discrimination against
the Jews and segregation and confinement in ghettos disappeared from the legal
system. Private, informal discrimination also faded or was dispelled.v Those two
years brought an extremely rapid shift in Hungarian society toward liberalism in
this respect.

| began to concern myself with my Jewish identity again when public anti-
Semitism once more began to be visible and audible and reappeared in print. | will
say more about that later in the book, when discussing the period concerned.

I said earlier that the trauma | had undergone as aJew also pushed me toward the
Communist Party. Then | said that as | came closer to the Communist Party, my
Jewish identity died in me (or went into hibernation).!- i see no contradiction there,
and the two processes meshed psychologically as well. The more the Communist
environment surrounded me, the less | felt there was any significance in having
been born a Jew.

Memories of humiliation, stigmatization, and discrimination forced many Jews,
including myself, to join a community that made no distinctions on the grounds of*

* People who had moved into the apartments of Jews or received their possessions could not
have been happy to see the survivors return. Those anti-Semitic to the core before 1945
retained a hatred for Jews after 1945. In the early years, there were even some pogroms, but
such occurrences were generally hushed up. At least, | never was aware of anything of the
kind.

f My case was not unusual. Decades later, | met “cadre children” whose parents were Jews
and who had joined the Communist Party at roughly the same time as I. They told me that
their parents regarded themselves as Hungarian Communists and that they had no Jewish
identity whatsoever, although they were fully aware that by the Nazi laws they would be
considered Jews. They almost felt embarrassed when their Jewish background came up, not
because they were ashamed but because they thought it was irrelevant.
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race or religion, and treated us as equals. From the very outset, Communist Party
philosophy instilled in us a variety of prejudices, but these did not include racism.
I was never asked in Communist circles about my creed or my parents’ or grand-
parents’ creed. | was accepted as one of them. After the dreadful trauma of discrim-
ination, the experience of acceptance was appealing and comforting.

Intellectual conversion and acceptance of Communist political ideas

What | have tried to reconstruct above was more an emotional chain of cause and
effect than a tight, logical sequence of ideas. It was paralleled by an intellectual se-
quence. Analyzing my own conversion reveals that this mental process was not asso-
ciated with being Jewish or with the trauma of 1944. It was a case of new ideas
competing with old and soon supplanting them entirely. In describing how my
thinking was transformed, | emphatically want to avoid giving any impression that
the acceptance of Communist ideas was the main stimulus behind my conversion. I
certainly did not fit the simple pattern of a hesitant intellectual convinced by Com-
munist political tracts and lectures that the party was the place for him.

In my account of the period up to 1944 ,1described my view of the world as open
and flexible. 1 gorged myself on reading matter, and | was easily influenced by any
forceful idea | encountered, until it was ousted by the next idea.

I had less time for reading books early in 1945, as | had a year’s school curricu-
lum to study in a few weeks. But I still read the papers and kept abreast of the news.
The events of the war and the presence of the Soviet army drew my attention to
the Soviet Union. | knew hardly anything about the subject | would later spend de-
cades researching: how the communist system works. But | was aware of the Soviet
Union’s military might and | could see for myself how it was expelling the dread
German army from my country. The Soviet Union was clearly creating a new world,
quite different from the one | had been inhabiting. | began to believe that this new
world would triumph over the old. At the same time, I could see (as | have said be-
fore) that the Soviet soldiers—the same men who had brought me liberation—were
treating the civilian population roughly and often committing inexcusable crimes.

| tried to reconcile in my own mind these two elements: my belief in the future
and my experiences in the present. Around that time | felt, for the first time in my
life, a need to write, and | composed quite a long study—or essay, as | would call
it today—titled “Seed under the Snow.” The manuscript was lost, unfortunately,
but I can reconstruct quite accurately what it said. | applied to the world around
me the historical theory of “cultural cycles” devised by Oswald Spengler. Humanity,
in Spengler’s eyes, was not advancing but was undergoing cyclical change. Cultures
were born and would flourish, decline, and die. This pattern, the German historian
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said, was demonstrated by Western culture, as the title of his seminal book The De-
cline of the West suggested. From time to time, a culture would arise, full of fresh
energy and raw, barbaric forces. Then it would turn into a civilization accompanied
by decadence, as its intrinsic strength weakened. The Western cultural cycle was in
this latter stage, he opined.

My essay explored the idea that the Soviet Union was beginning a new cultural
cycle, still at a rough, energetic, uncivilized stage. Unfortunate though it was, bar-
barity caused sufferings, but those very sufferings were marks of the culture’s youth
and freshness.

The second part of my essay echoed a poem by Endre Ady (1877-1919): I repro-
duced the beautiful piece in full and took over its title for my essay. Some of the
lines touched me very deeply after the cataclysm of 1944: “Tortured and shredded
me... | gather together from blood, moan and flame__ ” Another line of the poem
echoed the Spenglerian view: “Let me raise my face to a new man’s new world.”2

The line of argument was strained in several places and my identification with
Ady’s poem was a bit grandiose. Ady in 1915 could rightly have felt that he and
others like him would rescue the old values for the new world. That in part is what
the title “Seed under the Snow” refers to. But what of the past’s values could I,
an immature young man, have saved from an inescapable new order that inevitably
began with barbarity?

It was the first essay of my life, and it remained for a long time my only piece of
writing to include an original thought. Mind you, it contained some of the posing of
a teenage intellectual as well. Its logic was unclear and its claim unfounded, but it
had some originality. | am still appalled when | begin to examine how Communist
beliefs could have stifled independent thinking in me for so long.

Early in 1946, when | was already working at the Budapest headquarters of
MADISZ, | showed my essay, written a couple of months earlier, to Karoly Csendes,
the Budapest deputy general secretary of the organization. Many years later, Csendes
earned a dreadful reputation as the country’s deputy chief prosecutor, but in those
days he was not formidable at all. On the contrary, he seemed a quiet, understand-
ing man. He read the study and showed it to a couple of friends at Gy6rffy College,
a center of young left-wing intellectuals who were, as he put it, more learned than
he. 1 understood from his comments that he was impressed with my piece. He went
so far as to say he had never come across a similar piece of writing with so ambi-
tious an aim. He was also glad | had come out in favor of the new order, although
my line of argument was curious. Nonetheless, he concluded that my thoughts were
confused. “You should study Marx, Lenin, and Stalin much more closely,” he
advised.



2 How | Became a Communist 31

I had begun such study with an iron will even before he gave me that advice. Per-
haps the first work | ever read by a Soviet author was Stalin’s Dialectical and His-
torical Materialism—I learned much later that it originally had been published as a
chapter in the standard textbook on the history of the Soviet (Bolshevik) Commu-
nist Party. | am aware that even those who call themselves Marxists nowadays think
Stalin simplified and condensed his Marxism in an exaggerated, uncouth, and some-
times distorted way. But | do not intend here to offer a general assessment of Marx-
ist philosophy or an analysis of Stalin’s piece. All | want to record is how it affected
me then, when | first read that little white pamphlet with a portrait of Stalin in a
marshal’s uniform on the cover.

The very fact that Stalin was simultaneously supreme head of a large country, a
victorious commander in a world war, and a philosopher aroused admiration in
me. My head was a confusion of fragmentary philosophies, worldviews, and schools
of thought, but this little book had military precision. Each and every statement
seemed correct; indeed, everything seemed to fall into place. That characterization
applied to grave problems, which famous philosophers had tried to unravel or
had tangled further with their tortuous arguments (as | thought then). Stalin had
resolved them with finality in one terse sentence. | was attracted by the very sim-
plicity that a sophisticated critic would have faulted: this to me was an easy-to-
understand, lucid, coherent account.

Sadly, this work did not come up in critical philosophical seminars given by well-
trained teachers, who could easily have shown their gullible students where the
work’s superficiality lay, where the author had badly contradicted himself, and
where his line of argument or method of classification was lame. | did not discuss
the book with anyone. I had no chance to consider the doubts of others.

| had tried in my early teens (with expert help from Antal Szerb and Mihaly
Babits) to pick what literature | had to read and to identify what was best and
most consequential. Now | selected political writings in the same way. | assumed
that the best and most significant would be the Marxist classics: writings by Marx,
Engels, Lenin, and Stalin. Those | had to get to know thoroughly first. As the four
had written a library full of books, | had to choose the ones that were most impor-
tant. The various “selected works” were an obvious starting point, and | rapidly
absorbed their contents. A year or two later, | could consider myself a well-versed
Marxist, who had read all the important writings of the classic authors and knew
accurately which work pronounced on which questions.

The greatest and hardest assignment was to absorb Marx’s Capital. By then, I
was working with my friend Péter Kende. He was the editor of the MADISZ paper
Magyar Ifjusag (Hungarian Youth), with a desk in the organization’s Budapest
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headquarters. 1 was in the same room, put in charge of matters to do with education
and schooling. We often met outside work as well. First we decided, half seriously
and half in jest, that we would create a “democratic legionary novel” together. We
wanted to write it in the idiom of P. Howard (the pen name of a popular Hungarian
novelist, Jend Rejt6, who wrote extremely funny stories about a Hungarian serving
in the French Foreign Legion) and make it democratic by taking the side of the
natives against the wicked colonists. We wrote a few pages, amid much laughter,
before it occurred to us that we could use our time together more fruitfully. So in-
stead of writing a legionary novel, we decided to read Capital together.

We read it in German, taking careful notes. We each wrote a précis, but we went
through the work almost line by line comparing our interpretations of what Marx
was saying. The language presented no problems, but the text was very difficult.
Neither of us had studied economics before. If we had been familiar with Ricardo
or Adam Smith, we would have understood more easily what Marx borrowed
from them and where he differed. This complete lack of previous preparation made
the reading more laborious.

I still have my handwritten notes. | read only the first volume with Péter, over sev-
eral weeks. (The second and third | studied by myself.) We went from page to page
with unfaltering perseverance, thoroughly considering our notes on every sentence.
Péter and | approached the work with respect and humility, as religious people
would the Bible, reading it with devotion and taking every word seriously.

I did not offer a critical analysis of Stalin’s work earlier and 1 will not go into crit-
icism of Marx either. That task has been undertaken by others. I will make some
comments on Marxism in later chapters, but here let me confine myself to saying
how Capital struck me then.

It fascinated me. | was impressed above all by the clarity and logic of Marx’s ar-
gument, though the line of thought was abstract and the style was often involved, in
a Germanic way. If you accepted his premises, conceptual framework, and method
of argument, everything fell into place. The first conclusions followed from the un-
derlying ideas with logic sharp as a razor; they in turn could become starting points
for further conclusions, and so on. In the words of Kéaroly Csendes, Marx seemed
not confused but utterly clear. (It took much time and reading and understanding
before | realized what was wrong with Marx’s premises and where the seemingly
rigorous line of argument is slippery.) The young man who at 14 to 16 had fever-
ishly sought enlightenment in a hundred types of reading now found it radiating
like sunshine from those thousand pages.

The logic and clarity impressed me most, but I also respected and loved Capital
for being written with passion, not gray indifference. It speaks with outrage about
the treatment of child labor and the exploitation of the proletariat.
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Yet Marx did not subordinate his logical analysis to his feelings. He did not as-
cribe the troubles of capitalism to the evil of capitalists. When | was dealing decades
later with the critique of socialism, | tried to show how various disorders such
as shortages and forced growth derived from the system, not from people’s mistakes.
| certainly imbibed that approach while reading Capital, and it affects my way of
thinking to this day.

| decided while reading Capital that | was going to be an economist, a possibility
that had never occurred to me before. | had been more concerned with literature,
history, and philosophy. By the time Péter and | reached the end of our joint studies,
I had no more doubts about what profession to choose. My only uncertainty con-
cerned how | was going to put my plan into practice.

Marx’s work is full of intellectual arrogance. He respects Ricardo and Adam
Smith, and if he differs from them, he says so politely. But he writes with scorn of
contemporaries and intellectual opponents, treating them as stupid and malevolent.
“He does not even know...” “He fails even to notice...” Marx does the same in
other works, and a similar arrogance, pride, and intolerance toward intellectual
opponents appear in the writings of Engels, Lenin, and Stalin. 1 am ashamed to say
| was impressed, not put off, by this trait of theirs. That was the way to handle
opponents!

Another significant influence on my thinking was Gyorgy (Georg) Lukacs, though
not such a forceful one as Marx. | came across his studies of culture in the period
I am now describing.3 Lukacs’s ideas about the “great realists” provided a useful,
conciliatory bridge between my pre-1944 literary experiences and my freshly
acquired Marxist views. What if Tolstoy and Dostoyevsky were believing Chris-
tians, and Dostoyevsky was even a zealous backer of tsarism? W hat if Balzac was
a reactionary, or Thomas Mann an out-and-out bourgeois? No problem, Gyorgy
Lukacs stated reassuringly. You do not need to pay any attention to whatever philo-
sophical or political positions these authors put forward. The main thing was that
they were great realists, writers portraying reality. Lukidcs managed to inoculate me
against the harmful effects of their philosophical or political ideas, while leaving me
to admire their works, as | had done when a boy.

Lukéacs was an absolute authority in my eyes, given added cachet by the respect
that Thomas Mann had expressed for him.4 That was another bridge between my
old and new frames of mind. Reading Thomas Mann had been one of my most
eye-opening and enchanting literary experiences. If Mann thought someone was
great, he had to be.* So I cannot forgive Lukacs for never expressing reservations

* | heard how Thomas Mann spoke of Gydrgy Lukacs with respect when 1 first read Lukacs’s
works. It was not until much later, however, that | read Mann’s actual comments.
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about the Soviet Union. He had been there. He had seen for himself what the Soviet
system was really like. He knew about the show trials, the persecution of innocent
victims, and the terror. Then he returned to Hungary. How could he bear not to in-
timate by so much as a hint that perhaps not all was right with that system? Of
course, | understand that he was afraid. But perhaps he could have kept quiet,
rather than trying to cloak the crimes with his reputation. One reason why naive,
gullible, inexperienced young intellectuals like me blindly believed the myths about
the beauty of Soviet life was that not even Gyorgy Lukacs voiced any doubts.

As | progressed in my knowledge of Marxism-Leninism, | became increasingly
convinced that I held the key to understanding the world. Whatever problem arose,
| possessed knowledge that allowed me to solve it. Life presented no phenomenon
that I could not peg into the system of coordinates provided by Marxism or refute
with some argument from Marxism. This conviction also bred intellectual pride, of a
more dangerous kind than that fed by an arrogant style of debate. But for me, for a
young mind seeking order and clarity, it was the most attractive aspect of Marxism-
Leninism.

Even when | was a teenager, descriptions of rural poverty by the group of writers
researching rural Hungary and by other authors in literary works had aroused my
sympathy for the life of the poor and oppressed. Developed indirectly by books, this
compassion was intensified by my direct experience of 1944. | saw with my own
eyes, albeit only for a couple of weeks, the kind of life the brickyard workers lived.
When | started to study Marxism, that spontaneous empathy was put in its place.
Political economy explained how workers and the village poor were exploited.
However, this newly acquired knowledge did not encourage me to maintain an
active relationship with those poor people I had come to know and love. It tended
rather to encourage me to put all my energy into transforming society according to
Marxist theory, which was supposed eventually to eliminate poverty once and for all.

Charismatic personalities

Another factor drawing me to the party, apart from writings, was the eloquent
speech and the charisma of some Communist leaders.

| later came to know J6zsef Révai personally, but in that period, | heard him talk
at meetings or give lectures on several occasions. His writings in books and in the
lead articles in the party’s daily paper were fully in accord with his speeches. For
me, he personified the Communist intellectual at the highest level.

Révai could be an inflammatory speaker. What affected me the most was the lucid
logic of his speeches and articles. He not only made clear points, | felt, but argued
them convincingly and framed what he had to say in a clear structure. He was an
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excellent debater who confronted opponents with their own statements and tore
them to bits. He expressed himself faultlessly, in well-chosen, erudite language.
When | listen today to politicians expressing views with which I am in sympathy
but in a disorganized, monotonous, ungrammatical, dry-as-dust way, | wish secretly
that the rhetorical gifts of Révai would descend upon them.

I now know that Jozsef Révai was deceiving us on precisely the most essential
matters and infecting our minds with harmful, reprehensible ideas. But he succeeded
in affecting so many of us because his speeches and writings emanated his passionate
conviction and faith, expressed with tight logic by a highly talented speaker and
writer.

The other charismatic figure who had a formative influence on me was Ervin Hol-
16s. His talents and his public importance did not compare with Révai’s, of course;
I mention him here because | was working closely with him at the time. He was
general secretary of MADISZ when | was a senior staff member at the Budapest
headquarters. He directed my work in the movement and | took part in the party
seminar he ran. After 1956, Hollos, with the rank of lieutenant colonel, headed the
police department that prepared the reprisal trials. He may have had—indeed, he
probably did have—earlier contacts with the AVH. Then, after 1956, he became
one of the main organizers of the merciless repression. But let us not run ahead.
Now | am talking of the young Ervin Holl6s, whom | saw and heard many times
at the MADISZ headquarters on Rézsa utca.

He was not nearly as educated as Révai and did not attempt to seem so. What he
conveyed to people, including me, was his inner fire of conviction. He did not have a
way with words and his emphases and expressions were often unidiomatic, but
there was an electric charge in what he said. He was so sure of the truth that he
could not conceive how anyone could see things differently. That aura of faith was
quite absent from the party bureaucrats of the Kadar period (1956-1988). And, |
have to add, it is missing from many of our best present-day politicians under par-
liamentary democracy.

Ervin Hollés pounded into us the many ideas that we needed to become “people
of a special mould” (Stalin’s characterization of the true Communist). | first heard
from him that there was one and only one criterion distinguishing a Communist
from a pseudo-Communist or anyone else, and that was unconditional devotion to
the Soviet Union. | repeat, to the Soviet Union, not to Marxism or to the intention
of establishing a proletarian dictatorship or a classless society. A Communist was
someone who showed unconditional devotion to the Soviet Union. That idea led
Ervin Hollés directly to the trials that avenged the rebellion against Soviet rule.

It was Ervin Hollés who deeply imprinted in my mind the phrase “professional
revolutionary.” We full-timers at MADISZ (like the officials in the party and the
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“mass organizations”) were not functionaries of a movement or employees of an
organization but professional revolutionaries. There were other professional politi-
cians as well, but nothing bound us to them, because we and only we were the rev-
olutionaries. We shared that identity with the leaders of the Great October Socialist
Revolution, the heroes of the anti-Nazi Communist movement, the commissars of
the Soviet army, and the leaders of the struggles for colonial independence. The ex-
pression “professional revolutionary” gave dignity to the otherwise quite ordinary
work of organizing a mass movement. What it aroused in us was not just pride but
a feeling of superiority and self-satisfaction. Our work was more valuable and
exalted than what nonprofessional revolutionaries or rank-and-file party members
were doing. If the party is viewed as the vanguard, then we were the vanguard of
the vanguard.

Belonging to a community

Let me now go back to an earlier period of my life, to the spring of 1945; I was
studying in the country town of Kiskunhalas, but traveled home to Budapest several
times. On one such trip, on May 1, 1945,1was walking down Andréssy Ut without
any particular purpose when | was surprised to find myself suddenly swept along by
a May Day parade. It was the first street parade | had ever seen in my life (apart
from Nazi spectacles shown on newsreels). The procession was full of enthusiastic
people bearing red flags, Hungarian tricolors, and banners. | felt an inclination to
be among them and to join in their march.

In briefly listing biographical facts, I mentioned above that | joined the youth
movement in 1945. Now, in order to demonstrate my need to belong to a commu-
nity, I am returning to this event. It was the summer of 1945, and a young friend
of mine suggested | go to Szent Istvan korat 12. The house, which once belonged
to the Arrow-Cross, now contained a MADISZ office and hosted interesting events.
I went. Someone gave a lecture | found engaging. People were kind and friendly. I
went several times to enjoy myself in the cheerful environment of enthusiastic in-
quiry. A couple of weeks later, | joined the work of the organization; that is how
my life in the movement began.

I was attending joint excursions, afternoon dances, and youth meetings with
increasing frequency. In the autumn, we went out putting up posters for the first
parliamentary elections. | never had a stronger feeling, before or indeed since, of
belonging to a small community than I did in the Fifth District MADISZ.

Later, what attracted me more than the small community was the idea of being
part of the large community of the Party (with a very big capital “P”). By that
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time, it was a question of belonging to the fourth grade, which involved more than
active, committed party membership. It meant becoming a true Communist.

An important part in this development was played by the experienced Commu-
nists whom | consciously or unwittingly imitated. There were many long-standing
Communists around me. To take a single example, my immediate superior at the
national headquarters of MADISZ was Andras Heged(is. His career was to reach
dizzy heights, as he became secretary to Erné Ger6 (the second man in the party’s
hierarchy), then minister of agriculture, and finally prime minister of the Hungarian
People’s Republic. In that capacity, it was Heged(s who signed the Warsaw Pact in
1955 and then signed the letter calling in the Soviet troops after the 1956 Revolu-
tion broke out. Later he broke with Stalinism and gained status and respect as a so-
ciologist and a scientific leader of considerable intellectual influence. Little of this
was apparent when | first knew him. He was not a charismatic figure like Ervin
Hollds, but | still saw in him an archetypal Communist in many respects, not least
because his disposition was closer to my own (at that time, in any event). Heged(is
never had as much internal fire as Holl6s. He was more objective and businesslike,
but he too showed a Bolshevik’s relentlessness and sense of infallibility. He was
an extremely diligent, indefatigable worker. Hollds influenced me through his words
and teachings, while Heged(s did so by his example. Here was a pattern that I felt |
might manage to emulate.

Chance influences and my own capabilities

Much later, there came periods in my life when | had a long-term goal and a con-
scious plan or strategy for achieving it. There was no trace of any such plan in the
period | am writing about now. | outlined five grades of identification with the Com-
munist Party at the beginning of the chapter. It never occurred to me that | wanted
to go through all those stages. When | changed from being someone remote from
the party to being a Communist sympathizer, | did not even know what the next
step would be. | read a lot for my age and had no lack of reasoning skills, but my
intellectual acumen was coupled with naiveté, superficiality, and irresponsibility. It
was as if | were climbing a steep ladder with my eyes shut. These days, when reading
the short, often rather self-revealing interview found on the last page of the popular
Hungarian business weekly HVG (Heti Vilaggazdasag, or Weekly World Econom-
ics), | am always scandalized when people admit cynically that they joined the party
only to further their careers. Some of my past thoughts and decisions bother my
conscience, but I can say firmly that my actions were not motivated by any careerist
cynicism of that kind.
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Sometimes chance intervened. If that friend of mine had not told me about the
Fifth District MADISZ—if he had instead recommended the local social democratic
youth club and | had happened to find a pleasant group of people there and had a
good time—who knows whether | would have stayed there.

The first task | was given in the Fifth District office was to put the membership
records to rights. The papers were lying about in complete disarray. | have shown
many times since that | have an aptitude for keeping records and organizing, classi-
fying, and managing information. This was the first occasion | had a chance to use
that ability, and my success soon attracted the notice of the cadre officer (in the
language of the contemporary business world: the manager responsible for human
resources). | was immediately entrusted with the bigger task of being the “propagan-
dist,” which meant | had to organize various educational events and meetings. That
went well too.

Then chance intervened again. Jézsef Lukécs, later a philosopher and member of
the Hungarian Academy of Sciences but then doing work similar to mine at the
MADISZ Budapest headquarters, wanted to give it up and put all his energies into
his university studies. He was seeking a replacement, and when someone mentioned
me we met. | remember we spent hours walking about the streets with words pour-
ing out of Lukécs as he outlined the job. My head buzzed with the names of all the
people I should get in touch with and all the knowledge | would have to spread; all
those names and tasks were unfamiliar to me. | was alarmed at the prospect, but |
took the job. It had not even occurred to me before our conversation that | might be
a full-time paid functionary in a mass movement. When the chance came, the job
seemed interesting and | accepted. Seen from above, my selection arose from coordi-
nated “cadre work.” Lukacs had obviously looked about the district offices, heard
what district secretaries or cadre officers had to say, and chosen me. Seen from
below, from my point of view, it was a chance event. Some theories of economic
sociology analyze behavior as the result not of following a strategy but of seizing
opportunities and advancing as the occasion allows. The model fits that stage in
my career.

As | have mentioned, | received a full-time appointment at the Budapest head-
quarters of MADISZ in the fall of 1945. *“Full-time” meant that my work record
book was lodged with them, and | spent my days from early morning to late at night
in the youth movement. | even received a salary, albeit in inflationary currency
whose value was dwindling. My salary did not go a long way, but at least | did not
have to accept money from my mother, although I continued to live with her and
my sister. They probably had their own views about the cause to which | was devot-
ing all my time and energy, but they never shared them with me. They fully accepted
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that I should decide what to do with my life. They betrayed a little irony only in call-
ing me “the MADISZ,” rather than using my name.*

| advanced rapidly in my career in the Communist movement. One reason was
that | belonged to a category of cadres for which the Communist Party had a great
demand and a very meager supply.

On the one hand, | brought with me good qualities in the form of my bourgeois
past: | was well read and well mannered and had a knowledge of languages. Other
aptitudes such as organizational ability and skill in human relations soon became
apparent as well. On the other hand, the Communist Party could count on my ab-
solute loyalty. It was apparent that | had nothing false in me. And being a new-
comer from a middle-class background made me more eager to fit in, identify with,
and follow the Communist pattern of behavior than the older, storm-weathered
Communists were. All the old members of the illegal party had been in trouble
with the party at some time. Not so the keen recruits like me and my peers, who
were thus more dependable and pliable.

Even if reports at the time did not mention these attributes in so many words,
they were recognized instinctively by the cadre officers, who pushed me further and
further up the ladder.

* In those years, Muny0 used to make ends meet by selling off pieces of the family jewelry.
She started several businesses, all of which went awry. On her son-in-law’s advice, she
bought—at a rock-bottom price—one of Budapest’s fanciest coffeehouses (named New York,
it had been a legendary gathering place of writers and artists); after an abortive attempt to
revive it, she was soon forced to sell it at a tremendous loss. While she owned the coffeehouse,
she took great pleasure in inviting me in for a hot chocolate with whipped cream and pound
cake. Muny6 would sit down beside me in the huge hall decorated with the frescos of the
great Hungarian painter Karoly Lotz and the famous corkscrew columns, watching the
hungry MADISZ downing his drink.






On a Communist Newspaper—1947-1955

Early in the summer of 1947, | received a message from the editors of Szabad Nép
(Free People), the central daily newspaper of the Communist Party, saying they
would like to take me onto their staff. | had been brought to the attention of Miklos
Véasarhelyi, one of the paper’s senior staff members, by Péter Kende, who by that
time had been working there for a while. | was honored and excited by the invita-
tion and had no hesitation in accepting it.

| started work at Szabad Nép in June 1947 and left eight years later in the sum-
mer of 1955, when | was dismissed after disciplinary proceedings. | passed the initial
six years in unswerving faith and unconditional dedication to my work. The first
cracks in the foundations of my worldview began to appear in 1953-1954. | will
deal later with my disillusionment; here | am mainly covering those preceding six
years.

Onward and upward

The paper set me to work in the domestic policy section, which was headed by
Miklés Gimes. Who would have thought then that this quiet-spoken man, full of
faith in communism, would become a hero of the 1956 Revolution and die a martyr
on the gallows? A few days after | joined, a section meeting was called. There was a
staff member who had to be upbraided for some reason, but Gimes did not feel up
to delivering the rebuke and preferred to ask Miklos Vasarhelyi to do it in his jovial,
but if need be caustic, style.

A couple of days later, | was given my first assignment. The newspaper had a new
car that needed breaking in. There was no point in sending it out empty. My
instructions came from Oszkar Betlen, one of the editors. The Feast of St. Peter and
St. Paul was coming up, and the harvest in full swing. | should write a report about
the swish-hush of the swinging scythes, | was told. | had never written a newspaper
piece before and | had never seen up close how grain was harvested. Anyway, off we
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went, stopping the car here and there, and | wrote my maiden report, which
appeared in Szabad Nép the next day.

My work appeared frequently after that—reports, interviews, and items of infor-
mation. Hardly six months went by before | wrote my first editorial; it appeared in
December 1947, published over my initials. It was an analysis of the investments
made in the previous months.

Although | had had no economic training, it was acknowledged that | was inter-
ested in economic subjects and wanted to specialize in that field. There were others
engaged on economic subjects as well, all of them working in the domestic policy
section.

After about two years, | was promoted to be head of the paper’s economic sec-
tion. Péter Kende was put in charge of the foreign policy section at the same time.
We were both 21 years old, with three or four years of party membership behind
us. When the editors—Marton Horvath, Oszkar Beden, Miklés Vasérhelyi, and
Géza Losonczy—put the idea to the editor in chief, J6zsef Révai, apparently his irri-
table response was “What on earth are you thinking of? You want to turn the paper
into a nursery?” But in the end, he agreed.

Révai shook his head over my appointment. But when Marx’s Capital appeared
in Hungarian translation and he found | was one of the few people around who had
read it in the German original, he gave me the task of reviewing it.

In 1949, | was sent to the party college, where the upper ranks of the party
received extension training in Marxism-Leninism. | attended meetings of the State
Economic Committee, the highest economic body in the Communist Party, as the
paper’s permanent representative. The chairman was Ern6 Ger6 and the secretary
Istvan Friss. The committee deliberated all important economic decisions before
they were put to the Political Committee in the form of a proposal on which a vote
was taken. The chance to participate in the meetings of the State Economic Commit-
tee was a great honor. My work was also recognized in two government awards |
received.

In 1952, | was called on by Szabad Nép to cover an official visit of a party and
government delegation to the German Democratic Republic. One reason | was cho-
sen was that I had little difficulty in translating the speeches | had to report to the
newspapers. But a more important consideration would have been the complete
trust in which | was held. Anyone riding with Matyas Rakosi and Erné Gerd on a
government train had to be utterly reliable.

That brings me to an important question. What lay behind my rapid advancement
in that period? I never spoke to any of my superiors about it at the time, but I will
try to find an explanation. Here | am not seeking the reasons in myself, a subject |
will deal with later. What | would like to reconstruct are the criteria of my supe-
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riors, drawing on my general present-day understanding of socialism as applied to
my case.

Two main criteria govern appointments, promotions, and dismissals under the
Communist system. One is loyalty to the Communist Party, the other ability. Many
other factors are obviously weighed, but these two have the strongest influence.
Depending on the type of post, a minimum degree of loyalty is required before an
appointment can be considered, but a greater degree of loyalty than necessary may
compensate for the candidate’s lack in some required ability. The converse is also
true: exceptional talents may help to redress an absence of political enthusiasm. Of
course, the stronger a candidate is in both areas, the greater becomes the chance of
rapid advancement.

An economist reading this book may find it revealing to view the dual criteria as
setting up indifference curves faced by the decision maker, the two variables being
loyalty and ability. The higher of the parallel indifference curves apply to higher-
ranking jobs. Thus the indifference curve for a minister will be above the curve for
a department head in the ministry, that of an editor in chief will lie above the curve
of a trainee journalist, and so on. The indifference curves differ from country to
country and period to period. The emphasis in the early, revolutionary period is on
loyalty. Ability gains relatively greater importance in the later, more technocratic
period. The indifference curves depend also on the field. They will show great dis-
parity, for instance, when academics in the university world are compared to the
political police. The common feature in all spheres is the duality of the selection
criteria.

My rating was certainly high on both counts during and also after the “nursery”
remark by Révai. In terms of ability, | had a fortunate combination of bourgeois
erudition, including knowledge of languages gained at home, and a lively Marxist
education. | was able to express myself rapidly and in faultless Hungarian. It soon
emerged that | got on well with people. | was able to draw people out and obtain
interviews with those in high places. Later, when | was in charge of a section of the
paper, some leadership abilities became apparent as well.

These qualities were coupled with devoted loyalty. Those of my superiors who
knew me well realized that | had identified totally with Communist ideas, despite
my background and education in the baute bourgeoisie. When my appointment as
a section editor was being considered, one of those on the staff was Gydrgy Nemes,
later editor of the Irodalmi Ujsag (Literary News). He was fifteen years older than I,
with an impressive record as a journalist, a cultivated man who wrote excellently
and had a degree in economics. Why was | chosen, not he? Judging solely from the
situation and not from information told or whispered to me unofficially, | believe
it was because they trusted me more. Youth and inexperience were an enormous
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advantage, not a drawback, in their eyes. My youth and lack of experience in life
were likely to make me more gullible. Having no doubts, | would simply serve the
cause of the Communist Party unhesitatingly and unswervingly.

Motivations

Having described how my superiors saw me, | would now like to give an “inside”
report of how | experienced the period. As far as possible, I will avoid conveying my
present ideas. | am concerned here with what | thought and felt at the time.

The main impetus behind my words, deeds, and ideas came from faith and belief.
I had complete trust in Marxist-Leninist ideology. | was convinced that every word
of it was true. | had complete confidence in the party and accepted the notion that
the party embodied true ideas, pure morals, and service to humanity. It never
crossed my mind that the admiration and respect | felt for Stalin or Rakosi could
be classed as a “cult of personality.” And because | found the logic and argumenta-
tion in their writings and speeches convincing, they reinforced my confidence in
them.

One of the forces binding the bureaucratic apparatus that rules over the Commu-
nist system is fear. | can say that | never for a moment felt such fear during those
years. | was sure that those being arrested and sentenced really were guilty. Later,
when | had realized the truth and my friends and | were discussing the terrors of
the Rékosi era, many refused to believe that | had had no sense of it. Unbelievable
as it may sound, it is true. It is not for indifference or for keeping my head down
that I need to reproach myself, but for my blindness and self-imposed isolation
from news of the harsh realities.

Only on one occasion did | visit the headquarters of the AVH, the State Security
Police, at 60 Andrassy at. It was not my task to liaise with the AVH, but in that
one case, | had to obtain information about an upcoming trial involving a crime
related to production from an officer working there. | entered the building, spoke
with the officer, and left, as calm as | would have been if | had entered the Trans-
port Ministry or a district party headquarters. | had no idea that confessions were
being extracted under torture or that innocent people were being forced to make
false statements. It never crossed my mind for a moment that | might ever be held
there.

| was a student at the party college when | heard that Laszl6 Rajk, then foreign
minister, and his accomplices had been arrested, and we were briefed on the charges
against them—conspiring to overthrow the Hungarian government. | accepted the
announcement without demur or any idea that the charges might be false. Lightning
struck around me. | knew several of the people arrested and falsely accused at that
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time and in years to come. Confident in my innocence, | was sure that no danger lay
in store for me, although it emerged later that | was protected only by good fortune.
I could have been arrested for no apparent reason at all, as many people were in
those days. Having had access to certain confidential police files recently," | have
learned that one of the informants at Szabad Nép did denounce me on trumped-up
charges.1

As | think back on that period later, in the appalling knowledge of what really
took place, | have often felt that a comparison with a sleepwalker was just. | had
stepped confidently onto a ledge several stories above the street, yet felt no fear of
falling.+

Many Communist cadres were motivated by a lust for power. Readers will sense
that I am writing these memoirs in a strongly self-critical spirit. Having examined
my conscience strictly, I can say there was no trace in me of any effort to obtain
power. That desire was alien to me and remained so later. | never flattered my supe-
riors or sought to gain promotion by currying favor with them.

However, there was undoubtedly a kind of Szabad Nép haughtiness in me and my
colleagues at the paper. We felt we were the “voice of the party”—our words were
more valuable and important than those of other journalists. My manner and tone
of voice when speaking to colleagues, acquaintances, or strangers remained modest
and free of arrogance. But a deeper, mental layer underlies outward behavior. Our
arrogance lay in a belief that we were infallible, thanks to our Marxist-Leninist
learning and our position on Szabad Nép}

1did not feel any real incentive in the privileges we enjoyed. Nonetheless, we cer-
tainly had some material advantages over the average citizen.*

* Unfortunately, most of the pre-1956 AVH archives were allegedly destroyed—or at least |
could not access more of the files. For all |1 know, there may have been other incriminating
reports against me.

f 1thought the metaphor of a sleepwalker to describe this strange blindness and deafness was
uniquely my invention until my attention was drawn to the autobiography of Erng Gali
(2003, pp. 96-97), a Transylvanian intellectual, who uses the same image: “Forgoing every
independent approach of a personal type, taking a completely uncritical stand___ My frame
of mind and behavior at the time might be compared to ‘ideological somnambulism’ of some
kind.”

% Since then, | have often encountered this “Wunderkind phenomenon,” a brand of self-
assured intellectual arrogance—for example, among the young titans of the Flungarian polit-
ical scene in the 1990s and among the young Western consultants arriving in Eastern Europe
after the change of system. Perhaps | am prompted not by old age but by a retrospective as-
sessment of my youth to say that in such cases, lack of experience in life can easily contribute
to making young people overconfident and leaving them open to the influence of extreme
intellectual impulses.
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When | moved out of the family home—at the age of 21, which was early in those
days—1 was assigned a “service residence” by the newspaper office. | lived alone at
the time, which meant | could move into a small studio apartment, furnished with a
tasteless selection from the warehouses of the Government Commission for Aban-
doned Possessions. When in 1952 | got married and my wife, Teréz Laky, who was
also a journalist at Szabad Nép, was expecting our first child, we were assigned a
larger service residence—a three-room apartment in the elegant R6zsadomb district,
which we furnished very modestly out of our own savings. We acquired much of our
furniture very cheaply—it consisted of ungainly mass-produced pieces of low quality.

Szabad Nép staff had higher salaries than other journalists, but not much higher.
When | was promoted at the newspaper, | became entitled to take holidays at resort
facilities limited to employees at party headquarters. | was abroad altogether four
times in my nine years there, on each occasion for a few days that were spent almost
entirely on work. Three times | traveled to another socialist country and once, near
the beginning of my stay at the paper, to Vienna. That was an especially memorable
visit. | saw hardly any of the sights. | saved some of my expense allowance, and,
with a bad conscience, purchased some pairs of fine silk stockings for my mother. |
remember buying them at a Palmers store, where | was eagerly served by kind
young ladies in green uniforms. | was overcome by a feeling that it was unworthy
of a Communist journalist to be spending money in a place like that. Even then,
some of my allowance was left over and | returned it to the office. No doubt, those
who played cynical tricks with their expenses abroad in the late Kadar period will
smile at such childish Puritanism.

There was a canteen for the staff of the paper, the publishing firm, and the print-
ing press. The supplies were regular and adequate even at times when others faced
serious shortages of food, although there was nothing especially lavish about what
was offered. Another perquisite was the right to be treated at Kutvélgyi Hospital.
The privileges were known jocularly as the three Ks: Kékestetd for holidays, Katvol-
gyi for medical care, and Kerepesi Gt for the cemetery reserved for funerals paid for
by the party.

In line with the principle of “distribution according to work” generally accepted
at that time by policy makers and the teachers of Marxian political philosophy, | felt
entitled to the provisions we enjoyed. | did not feel we received exceptional privi-
leges. | had spent my childhood in affluence and compared with that (or a jour-
nalist’s life in the West), my way of life at Szabad Nép was modest. It could count as
privileged only because it rose above the average in a society gripped by extreme
egalitarianism.

My way of life was marked by asceticism rather than privilege. Now and again,
we would go to the opera, a concert, or the theater, or would visit friends, but most
of our time was spent on hard, devoted work.
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I had practically no real life outside the offices of the newspaper. When our first
child, Gabor, was born in 1952, | was on night duty. | thought it was self-evident
that the birth of a child was not a good enough reason to cancel my night shift. |
kept phoning the hospital, but I did not go and see Gabi until early the next morn-
ing. E